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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
The Directors present their report, together with the financial statements, on the consolidated entity (referred to hereafter 
as the 'consolidated entity') consisting of Magnis Energy Technologies Ltd (referred to hereafter as the 'Company' or 'Parent 
Entity') and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2022. 
 
DIRECTORS 
The following persons were Directors of Magnis Energy Technologies Ltd during either the whole of the financial year or 
were appointed during the year and remained directors at  the date of this report, unless otherwise stated: 
 
MR. FRANK POULLAS – EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN  
Appointed 10 September 2010. Elected Chairman - 29 August 2014. 

Mr Poullas has spent over two decades working in the technology, investment banking and engineering industries. During 
the last 16 years, Mr Poullas has been involved with assisting several ASX-Listed entities with funding and strategic direction 
in the Lithium-ion Battery Materials and Energy sectors. 
 
Current and former directorships of other listed companies in last 3 years 
None 
 
Special responsibilities 
Mr Poullas is a member of the Health, Safety and Sustainability Committee. As executive Chairman he is an ex-officio 
member of each of the committees and a member of the Continuous Disclosure Committee, 
 
MR. HOSHI DARUWALLA - NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
Appointed 31 December 2021 

Mr Daruwalla is based in the United States and has a career spanning over three decades where he has started, operated 
and grew businesses across a variety of industries globally from start-ups to significant multinationals. He has held global 
senior management roles at corporations such as Daikin Industries, American Air Filter – McQuay, Hong Leong Group and 
Purafil. He has operated, seeded, and scaled up businesses in 93+ countries, with successful outcomes including receiving 
the prestigious U.S. Presidential E- and E-Star awards for Excellence in U.S. Exports awarded by the U.S. Secretary of 
Commerce. Recently, Mr Daruwalla held the role of Executive VP – Strategic Global Expansions; Chairman of the Board, 
President and CEO of the North American entity of EcoPro Battery.  He is a Board Member and CEO Mentor at the State 
of Georgia District Export Council (U.S. Department of Commerce appointee), and holds a bachelor’s degree in 
manufacturing engineering, Masters in Business Administration, and is an alumnus of the Wharton Business School  
 
Current and former directorships of other listed companies in last three years 
None 
 
Special responsibilities 
Member of the Health, Safety and Sustainability Committee and the Nomination & Remuneration Committee, He will transfer 
the Audit & Risk Committee and vacate his position on the Health Safety & Sustainability Committee in FY23,   
 
MS. MONA E. DAJANI - NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
Appointed - 29 March 2021 

Ms. Dajani has over 20 years of practise experience as a dual qualified lawyer in the U.S. and England and as a licensed 
professional engineer. She serves as a lead lawyer in complex acquisitions, dispositions, financing, and project 
development transactions involving energy and infrastructure facilities in the United States and around the world. She is 
co-leader of Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw Pittman’s Energy and Infrastructure Projects Team and leads the Renewable Energy 
practice. 
 
Current and former directorships of other listed companies in last three years 
None 
 
Special responsibilities 
Member of the Nominations and Remuneration Committee and member of the Audit and Risk Committee as noted above 
Mona Dajani will transfer to the Health Safety & Sustainability Committee and vacate her role on the Audit & Risk 
Committee.in FY23 
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MR. MUGUNTHAN SIVA -  NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
Appointed - 29 March 2021. 

Mr. Siva possesses three decades of experience in the finance industry both locally and overseas specialising in funds 
management. Mr. Siva is the Managing Director, Chief Investment Officer, and co-founder of India Avenue, which is a 
business focused on providing advice and delivering client focused investment solutions to investors seeking to access 
India's strongly growing capital markets. Mr. Siva was Head of Portfolio Management for ANZ Wealth, where he was 
responsible for investment strategy and portfolio construction. Prior to that he held the role of Investment Strategist at ING 
Investment Management Australia and was Chief Investment Officer for ING Investment Management India. Mr. Siva has 
also worked for Westpac, Macquarie Bank, ING Bank and RetireInvest. Mr. Siva holds a Bachelor of Commerce from 
UNSW and a Masters of Business from UTS. 
 
Current and former directorships of other listed companies in last three years 
None 
 
Special responsibilities 
Chair of the Nominations and Remuneration Committee and member of the Health, Safety and Sustainability Committee. 
 
MS. CLAIRE BIBBY - NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
Appointed – 28 January 2022. 

Ms. Bibby has over 30 years professional experience as a senior lawyer and executive coach. Claire has founded and co-
founded several businesses covering the legal, executive coaching, property-tech and legal-tech spaces and has held 
senior management appointments with some of world’s largest companies and top-tier law firms. Claire is a Non-Executive 
Director of two other ASX listed companies noted below and sits on a number of unlisted companies and charities including 
Arowana International Limited. Claire has been recognised by several professional organisations during her career including 
recently being named by Australasian Lawyer as one of the Elite Women of 2021. Claire is also an Industry/Professional 
Fellow with the University of Technology Sydney, School of Law. 
 
Current and former directorships of other listed companies in last three years 

– Comms Group Limited (ASX:CCG), Clime Asset Management (ASX:CIW); Arowana International Limited, (has  since 
delisted) 
 
Special responsibilities 

Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee, and member of the Nominations and Renumeration Committee. 
 
MR. GILES GUNESEKERA - NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
Appointed – 28 January 2022. 

Giles is the Founder and CEO of Global Impact Initiative and has over 25 years’ experience of building and developing 
businesses for global organisations. GII is the only Impact Investing business in the world that is acknowledged by the 
United Nations as a Global LEAD company and recognised for their high levels of engagement in the United Nations 
Sustainable Development Goals (UNSDGs) Giles holds numerous Volunteer Not-for-Profit Directorships ranging from 
International Aid, Human Rights, Climate Action, Disabilities, Education, Arts and Sports. Giles is on Advisory Boards for 
the United Nations for Climate & Health and Sustainable Finance. Giles has formal academic qualifications from Oxford 
University, Melbourne University, Monash University, and the Financial Services Institute of Australia. 
 
Special responsibilities 

Chair of the Health, Safety and Sustainability Committee and member of the Audit and Risk Committee. 
 
Current and former directorships of other listed companies in last three years 

None. 
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MR. PETER TSEGAS  -  NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
Appointed - 16 June 2015. 

Mr Tsegas has over 20 years of experience in Tanzania where he’s been a resident for over 15 years. He has worked to 
engage both the private and government sectors on several projects and was Managing Director of Tancoal Energy Ltd 
which he successfully took from an exploration company to a JV with the Tanzanian government, and then into production. 
 
Current and former directorships of other listed companies in last three years: 
Adavale Resources Limited (Appointed 29 November 2019, Resigned 17 June 2020). 
 
Special responsibilities 
Member of the Health, Safety and Sustainability Committee. 
 
FORMER DIRECTORS DURING 2022 REPORTING PERIOD   
Professor M.S. Whittingham, Non-Executive Director, 4 November 2016 to 31 December 2021.  
Ms. Z. Pavri, Non-Executive Director, 29 March 2021 to 24 December 2021.  
Dr. R. Petty, Non-Executive Director, 29 March 2021 to 17 November 2021.  
 
MR. DUNCAN GLASGOW - COMPANY SECRETARY AND GROUP GENERAL COUNSEL 
appointed 10 February 2022.  
Mr. Glasgow has over three decades of extensive experience as a corporate and commercial lawyer and company 
secretary who has worked across several ASX listed companies as well as private companies in the energy, mining, 
retailing and industrial sectors. He has a Bachelor of Arts and a Bachelor of Laws from Macquarie University, is a Fellow 
of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and a Fellow of the Governance Institute and holds an Unqualified Practicing 
Certificate from the Law Society of NSW. 

. 
MR. JULIAN ROCKETT B ARTS, LLB, GDLP – JOINT COMPANY SECRETARY AND CORPORATE COUNSEL 
Appointed 15 April 2021 Joint Company Secretary and Corporate Counsel; Mr. Julian Rockett is both an experienced 
corporate lawyer and highly experience listed company secretary. His background in corporate law includes corporate 
compliance, advising several IPOs, RTOs, and other M&A activities, and capital raising for ASX listed entities. His diverse 
ASX listed company secretarial experience for more than twenty (20) listed companies includes supporting fin-tech, artificial 
intelligence, medical technology, logistics, equity, mining, energy, technology, and commercial property ASX listed 
companies. 
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS 
As at the date of this report, the interests (directly or indirectly held) of the Directors in the shares and options of the 
Company were: 
 

Director Ordinary 
Fully-Paid 

(OFP) Shares 

Unlisted 
Options over  

OFP Shares 

Performance  
Rights  

Mr. F. Poullas 17,387,506 1,000,000 2,000,000 
Mr. P. Tsegas 1,270,000 1,000,000 2,000,000 
Ms. M. E. Dajani - 2,000,000 - 
Mr. M. Siva 700,000 2,000,000 - 
Ms. C. Bibby (Appointed 28 Jan. 2022) - - - 
Mr. G. Gunesekera (Appointed 28 Jan. 2022) - - - 
Mr. H. Daruwalla (Appointed 31 Dec. 2021) - - - 
Professor M.S. Whittingham (Resigned 31 Dec. 2021) 500,000 - - 
Ms. Z. Pavri (Resigned 24 Dec. 2021) -   2,000,000 - 
Dr. R. Petty (Resigned 17 Nov. 2021) - - - 

 
 
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS 
The Group has business interests across the Lithium-ion battery supply chain in the USA, Australia, and Tanzania.  
Magnis’ vision is to advance their multi-strategy business through: 

• Operating as a strategic partner, to support through its parent (in which it holds a majority interest) Imperium3 New 
York, Inc’s (‘iM3NY’) lithium-ion battery manufacturing facility to build towards double-digit gigawatt production. 

• Partnering in other lithium-ion battery projects in conjunction with their technology partner, Charge CCCV (“C4V”) 
such as the greenfield lithium-ion battery project in Australia.     

• Developing the Group’s wholly owned Nachu Graphite mining project in Tanzania to produce high purity natural flake 
graphite.  

• Working closely with C4V with plans to commercialise their lithium-ion battery technology and intellectual property 
such as producing high performance anode material from their Nachu Graphite feedstock. 

 
As at reporting period end, the primary activities and changes in state of affairs of the Company were as follows:  

• Mr. David Taylor appointed as Chief Executive Officer following an extensive global search managed by executive 
search firm Korn Ferry. Mr. Taylor has 30 years of international experience leading the development and growth of 
businesses and major projects across the property, construction, transport, renewables, energy, environmental and 
social infrastructure sectors. 

• iM3NY Completes US$100 Million Intellectual Property-based Financing in Collaboration with Aon and Atlas Credit 
Partners. The loan facility reduces iM3NY’s cost of capital and provides additional cash to the project’s balance sheet, 
increasing its financial flexibility. 

• The Company’s battery technology partner Charge CCCV (‘C4V’) announced that it had launched its LiSER 
Technology. LiSER technology encompasses an in-house patented battery cell design that allows OEMs to bypass 
modules and build the pack directly. This LiSER technology enables long and slim cells with super-fast charge and 
discharge capabilities without losing the energy density benefits.  

• Successful extra fast charging results from optimised 7Ah (Amp hour) commercial cells using C4V’s patented BMLMP 
Technology. Current results show negligible capacity loss after 250w cycles with 15 min charge and variable 
discharge rates. The previous fast charging program concluded with significant results after more than 6,000 cycles. 
Most recently for a program commenced during the reporting period by C4V over 2,600 cycles of 20-minute charge 
and 20-minute discharge a 97% retention of capacity was recorded. 

• Magnis signed a Binding Offtake Agreement with Traxys Europe for the supply of natural flake graphite concentrate 
from its Nachu Graphite project in Tanzania. The Offtake Agreement allows for the delivery of 600,000 tonnes of 
natural graphite covering all flake sizes over a 6-year period. 

• Global engineering group Ausenco have been engaged to complete a Definitive Feasibility Study for the Nachu 
Graphite Project. Ausenco has 26 offices in 14 countries, with projects in over 80 locations worldwide. Ausenco are 
highly respected and well known for producing innovative capital efficient process plant designs. 
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• The Resettlement Program for project affected persons from the development of the Nachu Graphite project is a key 
precursor before construction of the plant and processing facility can commence. The Group’s wholly owned 
subsidiary Uranex Tanzania Limited have appointed the major contractor to develop and construct the resettlement 
village. Construction of the resettlement village has commenced with completion expected to occur by the end of 
2022.  

• Magnis secured a total of A$20 million through the issuance of a Convertible Note facility with funding from two US-
based institutions, The Lind Partners, and SBC Global Investment Fund. 

• The Company made three significant board appointments to help bolster its skills and capabilities. Each member 
brings experience across manufacturing, ESG and sustainability, corporate governance, and risk management. 

 

Post the reporting period end, the primary activities and changes in state of affairs of the Company were as follows:  

• Commercial production commenced at the iM3NY Lithium-ion Battery Plant. 

• The updated Bankable Feasibility Study was completed for the Nachu Graphite mining project in Tanzania. 

 
REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 
LITHIUM-ION BATTERY MANUFACTURING 
The Group along with its technology partner Charge CCCV LLC (“C4V”) are the major shareholders in the New York Lithium-
ion battery manufacturing facility, iM3NY. iM3NY will commercialise C4V’s patented technology to produce green 
credentialed lithium-ion battery cells for use in energy storage and electric vehicle applications.  Over the year, iM3NY made 
significant progress to build out one of the largest home-grown, non-China reliant Gigawatt scale Lithium-ion Battery Plants 
in the US. Notable milestones achieved are as follows: 
 

• Multi-national Engineering, Procurement and Construction contractor Ramboll together with the iM3NY team are 
utilising a phased approach to the design and construction of the battery manufacturing facility. Engineering, 
procurement, construction, process, and operational ramp up and construction are the major milestones.  

• Completion of the ‘Dry Room’. The dry room is an essential part of the Li-ion cell manufacturing process, where 
most of the cell assembly is performed in an ultra-dry and ultra-clean inert environment. The ultra-dry atmosphere 
ensures longevity of Li-ion cells with minimal side reactions and degradation. 

• Major New York state permits granted which are critical to continuing the construction build out, namely the 
Environmental Justice Plan, Air Permit and Aquifer Permit. 

• Achieved semi-autonomous operation phase which allows for batches of cells to be produced for both marketing 
and due diligence purposes. 

• Refinancing of the existing US$50 Million Riverstone debt with a US$100 Million Intellectual Property-based 
financing in collaboration with Aon and Atlas Credit Partners. The loan facility provides additional cash to the 
project’s balance sheet, significantly increasing its financial flexibility as well as plans for expansion. 

Post the reporting period, iM3NY achieved the following: 

• Installation and commissioning of key equipment such as Mixing, Coating, Drying, Calendaring, Slitting, Stamping, 
Stacking, Electrolyte Filling etc 

• Commenced the operations phase to commercially produce battery cells. 
 
NACHU GRAPHITE PROJECT UPDATE  
Magnis appointed global engineering consulting group Ausenco Services Pty Ltd to conduct a Definitive Feasibility Study 
for the Nachu Graphite Project in Tanzania. The study is being based on an annual graphite production of 220,000 tonnes 
of high-grade graphite concentrate. Uranex Tanzania Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group continued to conduct 
early project works such as drilling and casing of several water bores to secure water for production and the clearing of the 
Special Mining Licence boundary. In regard to the company’s resettlement program, Italframe Limited, a Tanzanian 
Registered building contractor overseen by project consultants, Norplan Tanzania Ltd has been contracted to carry out the 
construction of the village. Construction of the Eco-village to house the 59 families that were living on the special mining 
licence area has progressed well with completion expected by the end of 2022. 
 
CORPORATE DEVELOPMENT  
Magnis made significant board appointments listed in the table below during the year to help bolster its skills and capabilities 
as the company enters a significant growth phase.  
 
Each member brings experience across capital markets, ESG and sustainability, corporate governance, and investor 
relations: 
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Name Role Date Joined 

Mr. Hoshi Daruwalla Independent Non-Executive Director 31st December 2021 

Ms. Claire Bibby Independent Non-Executive Director 28th January 2022 

Mr. Giles Gunesekera Independent Non-Executive Director 28th January 2022 
 
CAPITAL RAISINGS  

On 3 August 2021, Magnis announced it had secured a total of $20,000,000 in funding from two US-based institutions 
The Lind Partners and SBC Global Investment Fund, via a Convertible Note (‘Facility’) that would be used to assist the 
Company with its aggressive growth plans to fast-track Gigawatt scale production at iM3NY’s Lithium-ion Battery Plant 
located in Endicott, New York. Shares issued under the Facility will be in accordance with the terms and conditions of 
that Facility. 
 
FUTURE OUTLOOK AND STRATEGY 
Magnis’ vision is to be a key global player in the lithium-ion battery value chain with a key focus on the electric vehicles 
and clean energy storage markets. The Company envisions the following corporate developments to take place in the 
new financial year  

• New York lithium-ion battery plant, Imperium3 New York Inc. (‘iM3NY’) to gradually increase commercial 
production to meet customer orders. 

• IM3NY seeks to raise further capital to increase capacity towards double digit gigawatt scale.  
• Secure further graphite offtakes, complete the definitive feasibility study and progress the funding process for the 

construction of the company’s Nachu Graphite Project in Tanzania. 
 
NO SIGNIFICANT ANTICIPATED DEVELOPMENTS EXCEPT AS DISCLOSED 
The Directors are not aware of any developments, other than the on-going challenges posed by the COVID-19 global 
pandemic, that pose a significant effect on the operations of the Group that are not disclosed in this report or in previous 
reports. The Company is not involved in or aware of any pending litigation. Other than as disclosed above and elsewhere 
in this report, there have been no further subsequent events.  
 
DIVIDENDS 
No dividends have been paid or declared during the year (2021: $NIL). The Directors do not anticipate the declaration 
or payment of a dividend in the next financial year. 
 

EMPLOYEES 
Magnis Energy Technologies Ltd had 7 employees (including 1 executive director) on 30 June 2022 (2021: 5 employees).  
 

  Gender 
Employees Total Male Female 
All Employees and Board 14  12 2 
Key Management Personnel 6   6 - 
Board 7   5 2 

 
Uranex Tanzania Limited had 13 full-time employees on 30 June 2022. (2021:11 employees) 
 

  Gender 
Employees Total Male Female 
All Employees and Board 13 9 4 

 

CORPORATE 
DIRECTOR MOVEMENTS DURING THE YEAR  

Directors Appointment Date Directors Departure Date 
Mr. H. Daruwalla 31 December 2021 Professor M.S. Whittingham 31 December 2021  
Ms. C. Bibby 28 January 2022 Ms. Z. Pavri 24 December 2021 
Mr. G. Gunesekera 28 January 2022 Dr. R. Petty 17 November 2021 
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CAPITAL FUNDS  
On 3 August 2021, the Company announced having raised AUD$20M through the issue of convertible notes to two New 
York based financiers with a Face Value of $21M. Magnis issued 84,291,378 Ordinary Fully Paid shares in relation to 
its $20M Convertible Note ('Facility’), that included: 

• 14,000,000 (7M to each convertible note holder) as collateral shares that are required to be paid for or surrendered 
within 18 months. As at 30 June 2022 there was 7M outstanding. Since the end of the financial year this number 
has reduced to 3M and SBC has received a further 3,846,154 shares on 25 July 2022 thus reducing the amount 
outstanding from the Convertible note to AUD$750,000. 

• 38,166,378 shares were subsequently issued to Lind Global Fund II LP (LIND), and  
• 32,125,000 shares were issued to SBC Global Investment Fund (SBC).  

 
An interest expense of $1M was paid upfront, hence the AUD$21M Face Value of the Convertible Note and 5,000,000 
shares were issued to finance advisor Evolution Capital Advisors (‘Evolution’) instead of cash for their fees with regards 
to the above convertible note financing. The shares issued to LIND extinguished their $10.5M portion of the convertible 
note in the period, while AUD$1,750,000 remained outstanding as at 30 June 2022 from AUD$10.5M portion of the 
convertible note that is held by SBC.  Subsequent to 30 June 2022 the amount outstanding had reduced to 
AUD$750,000. 
 
On 11 November 2021, Magnis issued 1,500,000 Ordinary Fully Paid shares by converting performance rights that had 
been approved by members in 2020, to the qualifying directors under the Magnis Executive Rights Trust (‘MERT’) that 
became eligible when the Company’s market capitalisation of AUD$500,000,000 was achieved. The relevant 
performance rights were held by Frank Poullas, Peter Tsegas, and former director, the Distinguished Professor M. 
Stanley Whittingham, who retired at 31 December 2021. An equity adjustment for $11,120 was required to reflect this 
conversion while 2,000,000 rights also lapsed relating to the director retiring.   
 
On 26 November 2021 Magnis announced the issue of 36,000,000 unlisted options to be granted to the below holders, 
after receiving shareholder approval at the AGM on 22 November 2021: 

• 20,000,000 unlisted options at $0.40 exercise price, expiring 3 years from grant date to investors (LIND & SBC) 
as per the convertible note funding facility announced on 3 August 2021. These expire on 25 November 2024.  

• 10,000,000 unlisted options at $0.50 exercise price and a three (3) year term (ending 25 November 2024) were 
issued to capital advisors (including Evolution), part of the remuneration for  their role as lead manager. 

• 6,000,000 unlisted options at $0.70 exercise price to Non-Executive Directors, expiring 25 November 2024, aimed 
to form part of their overall remuneration package for incentivising three recently appointed directors. These were 
issued to the Magnis Option Share Trust (‘MOST’). 

 
In December 2021, MOST was issued with 1,375,000 unlisted options for employees, at $0.80 exercise price, with an 
expiry date of 9 December 2024 and 1,000,000 unlisted options at $0.70 exercise price, relating to a retiring director 
were forfeited. 
 
SECURITIES AS AT 30 JUNE 2022 
The Company had the following securities on issue as at 30 June 2022: 

• 966,485,329 Ordinary Fully Paid shares on issue. 
• 77,869,167 unlisted options remain issued with a strike price at $0.50 and expiring on 26 May 2023. 
• 20,000,000 unlisted options remain issued to funding providers (LIND & SBC) with a strike price at $0.40 and 

expiring on 25 November 2024. 
• 10,000,000 unlisted options remain issued to capital advisors (including Evolution) with a strike price at $0.50 

and expiring on 25 November 2024. 
• 10,125,000 unlisted options outstanding in the Magnis Option Share Trust (‘MOST’, formally called Uranex 

Option Share Trust), with varying expiry dates ranging from 30 October 2022 to 9 December 2024 and varying 
exercise prices ranging from $0.50 to $0.80. This includes 6,000,000 unlisted options outstanding previously 
issued directly to Non-Executive Directors with a strike price at $0.70 and expiring on 25 November 2024. 

• 4,000,000 performance rights outstanding in the Magnis Executive Rights Trust (‘MERT’) 
• 500,000 Ordinary Fully Paid Shares issued following conversion of the equivalent performance rights are held in 

Magnis Executive Rights Trust (‘MERT’) 
• 750,000 Ordinary Fully Paid shares held in the Magnis Option Share Trust (MOST). 

 
A consolidated cash balance of $100,238,244 (2021: $72,894,945). 
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EXERCISE OF LISTED OPTIONS  
No listed options exist, and none were exercised.  
 
EXERCISE OF UNLISTED OPTIONS  
.  
During the financial year, Magnis issued 43,559,405 Ordinary Fully Paid resulting from holders converting their 50c strike 
price unlisted options, which resulted in the receipt of $21,779,703 in funds. As at 30 June 2022, 77,869,167 unlisted 
options remain with a 50c strike price and a 2-year period from their 23 May 2021 issue date. 
 
OPERATING RESULTS FOR THE YEAR 

2022 
 Income 

$ 
Results 

 $ 

Lithium-ion battery investments 417,616  (49,650,216) 

Graphite exploration and development 34,063  (12,047,603) 

Intersegment elimination  -   -  

Income and losses before tax 451,679  (61,697,819) 
 
SUBSEQUENT EQUITY EVENT: CONVERTIBLE NOTES 
On 25 July 2022, Magnis announced it had issued 3,846,154 Ordinary Fully Paid shares at 26 cents for a total of $1,000,000 
to US-based institution SBC Global Investment Fund, under the terms of the Convertible Note (‘Facility’) agreement, 
announced to the ASX on 3 August 2021 and approved by shareholders at the 2021 AGM. The Facility has been used to 
assist the Company’s subsidiary with its growth plans to fast-track Gigawatt scale production at the Lithium-ion Battery 
Plant located in Endicott, New York. 
 
REVIEW OF FINANCIAL POSITION  
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 
The Group statement of cash flows shows a net increase in cash and cash equivalents for the year ended 30 June 2022 
of $20,893,456 (2021: $72,548,800).  
 
During the year, the Group raised $23,561,500 (2021: $41,649,955) before costs via capital raisings and $21,779,703 
proceeds from options exercised (2021: $Nil).  
 
At year end the Group had liquid funds of $100,238,244 (2021: $72,894,945) available for future operational and 
investment use and borrowings of $145,111,133 (2021: $65,175,758). For a breakup of liquidity, refer to Notes 6 and 
Note 14(c)f for borrowing. 
 
SHARES ISSUED DURING PERIOD 
During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Company issued Ordinary Fully Paid shares raising $45,341,203 in equity 
(2021: $41,649,995) as follows:  
• 84,991,378 OFP shares were issued relating to the Facility raised $23,561,500 before fees. 
• 43,559,405 OFP shares were issued raising $21,779,703 from exercising unlisted options with a strike price of $0.50. 
• 1,500,000 OFP shares were issued under the terms of MERT  
• 20,000,000 OFP shares were cancelled under the terms of MEST  
• 5,000,000 OFP shares were issued in relation to equity funding costs 

 
CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 
Capital expenditure by the Group on plant and equipment during the year was $34,105,551 (2021: $10,216,185).  
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GROUP PERFORMANCE 
Annual Net Income 

 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 
Consolidated loss after tax   ($) 61,697,819 12,032,230 7,378,601 5,549,553 5,417,885 

 
Shareholder Returns 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 
Share price at financial year end   ($) 0.30 0.26 0.08 0.19 0.38 
Basic loss per share (cents) 6.38 1.41 1.11 0.92 0.97 
Diluted loss per share (cents) 6.38 1.41 1.11 0.92 0.97 

 
RISK MANAGEMENT 
The Board is responsible for ensuring that risks are identified which has been delegated to the Audit & Risk Committee 
to be reviewed on a timely basis and that the Group’s management addresses the risks identified.  
• The newly reconstituted Audit & Risk Committee reviews major risks to the business aside from its audit 

responsibilities, which are recorded in the Risk Register, which is constantly reviewed and updated,  

• Management and staff operate under numerous policies in their day-to-day operations which are designed to assist 
in reducing the identified risks.    

• The Board strategically reviews operational activities and conveys to management as well as shareholders its 
objectives and reports on progress against those objectives. 

• The Board approves operating and capital budgets and at its meetings and monitors actual expenditure to budget. 

• The Board reviews sovereign, operating and environmental risks with management and from time-to-time external 
consultants provide reports on its practices. The year saw a number of initiatives begun that straddled this in 
particular the engagement of IBIS to perform a Vendor ESG Audit. 

• The Board assesses political and sovereign risks relating to its international assets by monitoring local media and 
politics. Group representatives liaise with all relevant levels of Government to maintain awareness as to matters 
that may affect the Company.  In Mr. Tsegas, the Company also has a resident Board member to assist in 
monitoring and to the extent it can reduce sovereign risks for its Tanzanian assets the management of those. Also 
our US based directors Ms Dajani and Hoshi Daruwalla   keep the Board informed of developments and assisted 
the Board to address any emerging risks. One key matter was the  refinancing of the Riverstone facility with iM3NY. 

The other Committees have specific responsibilities for making recommendations for adoption, in the areas appropriate 
to their Charters.  
 
Numerous risks are associated with the Company’s businesses, failing to keep pace with technological advancements, 
capital requirements, and growing competition makes the Company’s activities risky concerning its battery 
manufacturing investments. 
   
Likewise, the realisation of the project including processing, from its Nachu Graphite Project will be very capital intensive. 
The degree of success depends on numerous factors, including negotiating suitable commercial off-take agreements, 
funding, sovereign risks, relevant commodity prices, the quality and scale of the resource, and commercial partnerships 
to manage these operations. The strategic identification of potential mineralisation targets and management oversight 
will require exploration and mining programmes involving careful supervision and work from a broad range of skilled 
specialists.  
 
In balancing and managing these diverse risks, will provide substantial rewards for investors that compensate for the 
level of risk inherent to projects of this nature - particularly for a company with a growing market size and recognition 
through admission to the ASX All Ords.  
 
Magnis from both a resource and technological is positioned in the lithium-ion battery space, as such it benefits from 
tailwinds of political, technical, and economic changes that are focussing on that. These forces in particular the economic 
are increasingly embracing electrical power together with other renewable energy strategies.  
 
There is an international consensus to reduce global carbon emissions. Not surprisingly, this has coincided with an 
increased level of ‘green’ investment interest and technological achievements that support a paradigm shift from the 
dominant reliance on fossil fuels last century. The Board considers Magnis well-positioned to capitalise on the broader 
macro-economic changes.    
 
Furthermore. the Group continues to access funds through the capital markets to fund its business needs and strategic 
goals and intends to do so until it is self-sustaining through revenue.  
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SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS 
 
Notwithstanding the impact of COVID in the first half of the year which made travel to the USA almost impossible iM3NY 
has been assisted by the refinancing referred to above and has managed to have the plant 84% complete by the end of 
the financial period. 
 
Also, the DFS for the Nachu Graphite Project has progressed as has the construction of the resettlement village. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION AND PERFORMANCE 
The Group’s exploration activities in Tanzania are subject to environmental regulations and guidelines in the licenced 
areas. Failure to meet environmental conditions attaching to the group’s mineral tenements could lead to forfeiture of 
the tenements. No environmental breaches have occurred or have been notified by any government agencies during 
the year ended 30 June 2022. The Vendor ESG audit conducted at the end of the reporting period did not reveal any 
concerning gaps in respect to this or any other areas covered by the audit, specifically noting the positives arising from 
the Group’s community engagement. 
 
The New York lithium-ion battery plant is also subject to Environmental and Planning Regulations from various 
government authorities, which are being strictly adhered to by iM3NY.  
 
The Townsville Project (iM3TSV) remains at a preliminary stage, as the re-zoning was granted towards the end of the 
3rd quarter of the reporting period and as yet no commercial terms have been provided in order to progress this 
opportunity.  
 
DIRECTORS MEETINGS 
The number of Directors meetings held (including meetings of committees of Directors) and the number of meetings 
attended by each of the Directors of the Company during the financial year are illustrated in the table below. Although 
formalised meetings for the committees were not held during the year due to various director changes, discussions on 
risk, people, health and safety and sustainability were considered during the Board meetings.  
 

 Directors 
Meeting 

Audit & Risk 
Committee  

Nominations & 
Remuneration 

Committee 

Health, Safety & 
Sustainability 

Committee 
  A B A B A B A B 
Number of 
meetings 
attended: 

        

F. Poullas 9 9 2 2 * * 2 2 
M.S. Whittingham 4 3 1 - * * - - 
P. Tsegas 9 8 1 - * * 2 1 
M. Siva 9 9 2 2 2 2 2 1 
Z. Pavri 4 4 2 2 * * - - 
R. Petty 3 3 2 2 - - - - 
M.E. Dajani 9 6 3 - 2 - * * 
C. Bibby ^ 4 4 1 1 2 2 - - 
H. Daruwalla 5 5 - - 2 2 2 1 
G. Gunesekera ^ 4 4 1 1 - - 2 2 

 
Notes:  
A . Number of meetings held during the year whilst the director held office 
B . Number of meetings attended 
* there were no meetings whilst the person was a member of the committee 
^ as noted below Claire bibby & Giles Gunesekera commenced 28 January 2022   
 
The Audit & Risk Committee initially comprised R. Petty (Chair), M. Siva, Z. Pavri and M.E. Dajani, this then changed following 28 January and is now 
composed of Claire Bibby (Chair) Giles Gunesekera and Mona Dajani . 
The Nominations & Remuneration Committee initially comprised M. Siva (Chair), M.E. Dajani, R. Petty, and Z Pavri., this has changed from 28 January 
2022 to Mugunthan Siva (Chair), Mona Dajani, Claire Bibby and Hoshi Daruwalla 
The Health, Safety & Sustainability Committee initially comprised of Z. Pavri (Chair), F. Poullas, M.S. Whittingham, P. Tsegas, M. Siva and R. Petty. 
This then changed to Giles Gunesekera (Chair), Frank Poullas, Peter Tsegas, Mugunthan Siva and Hoshi Daruwalla. 
The committee’s reconstitution midway through the year was due to the changes to the composition of the board which occurred in January 2022. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) 
This report outlines the remuneration arrangements in place for Directors and executives.  
 
REMUNERATION POLICY 
The Board recognises that the performance of the Group depends upon the quality of its Directors and executives. To 
achieve its operating and financial activities the Group must attract, motivate, and retain highly skilled Directors and 
executives.  
 
The Charter of the Remuneration and Nominations Committee, recently updated will ensure that the Committee sets 
appropriate remuneration, goals and reviews existing STI and LTI structures and following that submits its 
recommendation for any changes to the Board for its consideration. All remuneration paid to Directors and executives 
is valued at the cost to the Group and expensed.  
 
The Board policy is to remunerate Non-Executive Directors at market rates for comparable companies for time, 
commitment and responsibilities and where additional work is required a rate has been set and approved by the board. 
The Board determines payments to the Executive Directors (namely Peter Tsegas and Frank Poullas) and reviews their 
remuneration annually, based on market practice and their duties and accountability. The current maximum aggregate 
of Non-Executive Directors fees payable is $650,000; having been approved by shareholders at the Company’s Annual 
General Meeting held on 17 November 2017.  
 
Presently, Directors receive annual fees of between $65,000 to $70,000 and the Executive Chairman $120,000. An 
additional $5,000 per annum is paid to Directors who Chair Committees, except for the Audit and Risk Committee, where 
the Chair receives $15,000 per annum. Superannuation is payable under each Director’s service agreement and in 
accordance with the Superannuation Guarantee Charge Act (Cth). 
 
DIRECTOR AND OTHER EXECUTIVE DETAILS  
Listed on pages 2-4 of the Directors’ Report are persons who acted as a director of the Company during either the whole 
of the financial year or were appointed during the year and remained directors at the date of this report or were appointed 
since the end of the financial year. For the purposes of this report, Key Management Personnel (KMP) of the Company 
are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning directing and controlling the major activities of the 
Company, directly or indirectly, and senior or key management employee. In addition to the Directors, the following were 
KMP during the financial year:  

• Mr. Rodney Chittenden - Project Director (from 1 September 2020) 
• Mr. Duncan Glasgow - Company Secretary and Group General Counsel (from 10 February 2022) 
• Mr. Julian Rockett - Joint Company Secretary and Legal Counsel (from 10 February 2022) 
• Mr. Aran Nagendra - Investor Relations General Manager (from 24 May 2021)  
• Dr. Jawahar Nerkar - Director of Battery Technologies (from 19 July 2021)  
• Mr. Jürgen Behrens - Chief Financial Officer (from 1 April 2020)  

 
PERFORMANCE BASED REMUNERATION  
The Group currently has no performance-based remuneration component built into KMP remuneration packages. 
Bonuses may be payable at the Board’s discretion following a review by the Nomination & Remuneration Committee 
and based on the performance of the Company.  
 
COMPANY PERFORMANCE, SHAREHOLDER WEALTH AND DIRECTOR AND EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION 
In accordance with the remuneration policy noted above, the Group includes the following principles in its remuneration 
framework: 

• competitive rewards are set to attract high calibre executives. 
• executive rewards are linked to shareholder value. 

 
For executives, the Company’s intention is to position total employment costs within a relevant peer group. There are 
no financial measures that are included in the assessment, but the Remuneration and Nominations Committee considers 
the growth in market capitalisation an important parameter, hence the reason that performance rights were approved, 
and shares issued to 2 directors, please see the comments below in respect to MERT.  

 
For non-financial measures, a range of factors are considered including market position, relationship with a range of 
stakeholders, risk management, leadership, and team contribution. This review resulting in the issue to MOST of 
1,375,000 options as noted above and below 
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SHARE OPTION PLAN: MOST 
Magnis Energy Technologies Ltd operates an ownership-based scheme for Directors and Employees of the Company. 
In accordance with the provisions of the Plan, listed Ordinary Fully Paid shares and unlisted options are held on behalf 
of Plan Participants by the Trustee of the Magnis Option Share Trust (‘MOST’). During the year ended 30 June 2022, 
1,375,000 unlisted options (2021:750,000) on similar terms and conditions were allotted to the Trust pursuant to the 
rules of MOST. 

 
SHARE PLAN: MEST 
Magnis Energy Technologies Ltd operates an ownership-based scheme for Directors and Employees of the consolidated 
entity. In accordance with the provisions of the Plan, listed Ordinary Fully Paid shares are held on behalf of Plan 
Participants by the Trustee of the Magnis Employee Share Trust (‘MEST’). During the year ended 30 June 2022, NIL 
Ordinary Fully Paid shares (2021:20,000,000) were issued to the MEST, held on behalf of one Plan Participant pursuant 
to their employment agreement. However, during the year those rights were cancelled, pursuant to the respective terms 
of their grant, triggered by the only Plan Participant resigning. 

 
RIGHTS PLAN: MERT 
Magnis Energy Technologies Ltd operates an ownership-based scheme for Directors and Employees of the consolidated 
entity. In accordance with the provisions of the Plan, unlisted Performance Rights are held on behalf of Plan Participants 
by the Trustee of the Magnis Executive Rights Trust (‘MERT’). During the year ended 30 June 2022, NIL unlisted 
Performance Rights (2021:12,500,000) were allotted to the Trust under the rights scheme. The unlisted Performance 
Rights are divided into five tranches and conversion of each tranche is dependent on satisfaction of performance 
milestones and service conditions applicable to each tranche, including the relevant person being a director at the time 
the respective performance milestone tranche is satisfied. During the reporting period shares were issued to 3 Directors 
who were in office at the time of their issue because the company’s market capitalisation passed the first threshold of 
AUD$500M.  As a consequence of the resignation of all except 2 participants, 4 million Performance rights remain, 
allocated to Frank Poullas and Peter Tsegas as noted above. 
 
SERVICE AGREEMENTS 
Remuneration and other terms of employment for key management personnel are formalised in service agreements as 
set out below: 
Mr. Frank Poullas - Executive Chairman 

• No agreement expiry date; 

• Remuneration is $120,000 (2021: $120,000) per annum including statutory superannuation guarantee; 

• Consulting fees of $1,000 per business day that is applicable if invoiced from Strong Solutions Pty Ltd, a related party to Mr. Poullas 
• The agreement and the employment created by it may be terminated by either Magnis Energy Technologies Ltd or Mr Poullas by giving the 

other party 1 months’ notice; and 

• The agreement is subject to annual review. 

Mr. Rodney Chittenden - Project Director 

• No agreement expiry date; 

• Remuneration is $250,000 from 1 April 2022 (2021: $125,000) per annum plus statutory superannuation guarantee; 
• The agreement and the employment created by it may be terminated by either Magnis Energy Technologies Ltd or Mr. Chittenden by 

giving the other party 1 months’ notice; and  

• The agreement is subject to annual review. 

Mr. Aran Nagendra – Corporate Development and Investor Relations Manager 

• No agreement expiry date;  

• Remuneration is $200,000 (2021:$145,000) per annum including statutory superannuation guarantee; 
• The agreement and the employment created by it may be terminated by either Magnis Energy Technologies Ltd or Mr Nagendra by giving 

the other party 1 months’ notice; and 

• The agreement is subject to annual review. 

Dr. Jawahar Nerkar - Director of Battery Technologies 

• No agreement expiry date; 

• Remuneration is $160,000 (2021:$150,000) per annum plus statutory superannuation guarantee 
• The agreement and the employment created by it may be terminated by either Magnis Energy Technologies Ltd or Dr Nerkar by giving the 

other party 1 months’ notice; and 

• The agreement is subject to annual review. 
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Mr. Duncan Glasgow - Company Secretary and Group General Counsel 

• No agreement expiry date; 

• Remuneration is $275,000 from 10 Feb 2022 (2021:$n\a) per annum plus statutory superannuation guarantee 
• The agreement and the employment created by it may be terminated by either Magnis Energy Technologies Ltd or Mr Glasgow by giving 

the other party 3 months’ notice; and 

• The agreement is subject to annual review. 

Mr. Julian Rockett – Joint Company Secretary and Legal Counsel 

• Agreement expiry date 31 March 2023; 

• Remuneration is $36,000 from 1 Apr 2022 (2021:$132,000) per annum plus GST; 
• The agreement and the employment created by it may be terminated by either Magnis Energy Technologies Ltd or Mr Rockett by giving 

the other party 1 months’ notice; and 

• The agreement is subject to annual review. 

Mr. Jürgen Behrens - Chief Financial Officer 

• No agreement expiry date; 

• Remuneration is $165,000 (2021:$140,000) per annum plus statutory superannuation guarantee 
• The agreement and the employment created by it may be terminated by either Magnis Energy Technologies Ltd or Mr Behrens by giving 

the other party 1 months’ notice; and 
• The agreement is subject to annual review. 

 
OTHER TRANSACTIONS WITH KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL (KMP) 
A total of $362,964 was paid in consultancy fees to related parties of the KMP, and Non-Executive Directors during the 
financial year (2021: $624,359). The consultancy and services are provided under normal commercial terms and are 
disclosed in detail under Notes 24 and 25.  
 
TABLE 1: REMUNERATION FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022  

 
 

Salary & 
Fees 

 
Cash 

Bonus 

 

Termination 
Benefits 

Post 
Employment 

Benefits ^  
SBP 

Options # Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Non-Executive Directors       
P. Tsegas 65,000 -  - - (4,225) 60,775 
M. E. Dajani 65,000 -  - - 282,200# 347,200 
M. Siva 70,206 -  - - 282,200# 359,426 
C. Bibby  (Appointed 28 Jan 2022) 33,420 -  - 7,020 - 36,762 
G. Gunesekera  (Appointed 28 Jan 
2022) 46,258 -  - 3,342 - 50,969 
H. Daruwalla (Appointed 31 Dec 2021) 35,192 -  - 4,711 - 35,192 
Prof. M.S. Whittingham (Resigned 31 
Dec 2021) 35,000 -  - - (2,770) 32,230 
Z. Pavri (Resigned 24 Dec 2021) 33,741  - 3,520 282,200** 319,461 
Dr. R. Petty (Resigned 17 Nov. 2021) 31,358  - -  31358 
       
Key management personnel       

F. Poullas * 120,000 - - 12,000 (4,225) 127,775 
I. Nagendra 145,165 - - - 47,200 192,365 
R. Chittenden 145,833 - - - 23,600 169,433 
J. Behrens 151,667 - - 15,167 23,600 190,434 
J. Rockett * 127,600 - - - - 127,600 
D. Glasgow (Appointed 10 Feb 2022) 105,982 - - 10,002 - 115,984 
Dr. J Nerkar (Appointed 19 July 2021) 144,920 - - 14,492 11,800 171,212 

 1,356,342 -  - 70,254 941,580 2,368,176 

 



DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

MAGNIS ENERGY TECHNOLOGIES LTD: ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2022      15 
 

* Fees were paid to related entities. 
^ Includes superannuation and movements in employee entitlements. 
# Share Based Payments (SBP) consist of unlisted options issued in 
MOST. 
** the options associated were forfeited as required under the terms of 
MOST. 

 
TABLE 2: REMUNERATION FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021  

 
 

Salary & 
Fees 

 
Cash 

Bonus 

 

Termination 
Benefits 

Post 
Employment 

Benefits ^  
SBP 

Options # Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Non-Executive Directors       
Prof. M. S. Whittingham 87,500 -  - - - 87,500 
P. Tsegas 105,000 -  - - - 105,000 
M. E. Dajani (Appointed 29 Mar. 2021) 17,000 -  - - - 17,000 
M. Siva (Appointed 29 Mar. 2021) 17,000 -  - 1,615 - 18,615 
Z. Pavri (Appointed 29 Mar. 2021) 17,000 -  - 1,615 - 18,615 
Dr. R Petty (Appointed 29 Mar. 2021) 17,000 -  - - - 17,000 
Hon. T. Grant (Resigned 23 Feb. 2021) 38,167 -  50,000 - - 88,167 
       

 
 

Salary & 
Fees 

 
Cash 

Bonus 

 

Termination 
Benefits 

Post 
Employment 

Benefits ^  
SBP 

Options # Total 

 $ $  $ $ $ 

Key management personnel       

F. Poullas * 150,000 - - 14,250 - 164,250 
R. Chittenden (Appointed 1 Sep. 2020) 104,167 - - 9,896 - 114,063 
J. Rockett * (Appointed 15 April 2021) 24,200 - - - - 24,200 
J. Behrens (Appointed 1 April 2020) 125,000 - - 22,475 - 147,475 
Dr. F Houllis (Terminated 21 Aug. 2020) 73,772 - 93,000 2,728 - 169,500 
J. Dack (Resigned 17 May 2021) 263,786 - - 25,060 - 288,846 

 1,039,592 - 143,000 77,639 - 1,260,261 
* Fees paid to related entities. 
^ Includes superannuation and movements in employee entitlements. 
# Share Based Payments (SBP) consist of unlisted share options issued. 

 
COMPENSATION SHARES AND OPTIONS GRANTED AND VESTED 
During the financial year, the following share-based payments were awarded, vested, exercised, or lapsed:  
 
TABLE 1: OPTIONS AWARDED 

Grant Date and 
Vesting Date Expiry Date 

Grant Date Fair 
Value  Number 

Original Exercise 
Price of Option 

Fair Value 
Expense under 

AASB 2 
$  $ $ 

9-Dec-2021 9-Dec-2024 0.094400 1,375,000 0.80 129,800 
26-Nov-2021 25-Nov-2024 0.141100 6,000,000 0.70 846,600 

   7,375,000  976,400 
      

WEIGHTED AVERAGE FAIR VALUE OF OPTIONS GRANTED:        0.13239 
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TABLE 2: OPTIONS EXERCISED 

Grant Date and 
Vesting Date Expiry Date 

Grant Date Fair 
Value  Number 

Original Exercise 
Price of Option 

Fair Value 
Expense under 

AASB 2 
$  $ $ 

N\A 
 
 

TABLE 3: OPTIONS EXPIRED \ LAPSED 
Grant Date and 

Vesting Date Expiry Date 
Grant Date Fair 

Value  Number 
Original Exercise 
Price of Option 

Fair Value 
Expense under 

AASB 2 
$  $ $ 

26-Nov-2019 31-Oct-22 0.000100 1,000,000 0.70 100 
25-Nov-2021 23-Nov-24 0.1411 2,000,000 0.70 282,200 

   3,000,000  282,300 
      

 

COMPENSATION SHARES AND RIGHTS GRANTED AND VESTED 
During the financial year, the following rights-based payments were awarded, vested, exercised, or lapsed:  

 
 

 
 
 
 
TABLE 4: PERFORMANCE RIGHTS AWARDED 

Grant Date and 
Vesting Date Expiry Date 

Grant Date Fair 
Value  Number 

Original Exercise 
Price of Right 

Fair Value 
Expense under 

AASB 2 
$  $ $ 

N\A      
WEIGHTED AVERAGE FAIR VALUE OF RIGHTS GRANTED:        0.00000 

 
 

TABLE 5: PERFORMANCE RIGHTS EXERCISED 

Grant Date and 
Vesting Date Expiry Date 

Grant Date Fair 
Value  Number 

Original Exercise 
Price of Right 

Fair Value 
Expense under 

AASB 2 
$  $ $ 

18-Dec-2020 n\a 0.005340 1,500,000 0.00 8,010  
   1,500,000  8,010 
      
      

TABLE 6: PERFORMANCE RIGHTS LAPSED 

Grant Date and 
Vesting Date Expiry Date 

Grant Date Fair 
Value  Number 

Original Exercise 
Price of Right 

Fair Value 
Expense under 

AASB 2 
$  $ $ 

18-Dec-2020 n\a 0.001555 2,000,000 0.00 3,110  
   2,000,000  3,110 
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ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES RELATING TO KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL SHAREHOLDING 
The number of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each director and other members of key 
management personnel of the consolidated entity, including their personally related parties, is set out below: 
 
Ordinary shares Year Start 

Balance Granted Additions (Disposals) 
Year End 
Balance 

F. Poullas 16,600,000 500,000 287,506 - 17,387,506 
P. Tsegas 770,000 500,000 - - 1,270,000 
M. E. Dajani - - - - - 
M. Siva 700,000 - - - 700,000 
C. Bibby (Appointed 28 Jan 2022) ~ - - - - - 
G. Gunesekera  (Appointed 28 Jan 2022) ~ - - - - - 
H. Daruwalla (Appointed 31 Dec 2021) ~ - - - - - 
Prof. M. S. Whittingham (Resigned 31 Dec 2021) * - 500,000 - - 500,000 
Z. Pavri (Resigned 24 Dec 2021) * - - - - - 
Dr. R. Petty (Resigned 17 Nov. 2021) * - - - - - 
I. Nagendra - - 134,093 - 134,093 
R. Chittenden 860,334 - - - 860,334 
J. Behrens 3,500,000 - - (2,550,000) 950,000 
J. Rockett - - - - - 
D. Glasgow (Appointed 10 Feb 2022) ~ - - - - - 
Dr. J Nerkar (Appointed 19 July 2021) ~ - - - - - 
 22,430,334 1,500,000 421,599 (2,550,000) 21,801,933 
 

~ Opening balance as at appointment date 
* Closing balance as at resignation\termination date 

 
OPTION HOLDING 
The number of options over ordinary shares in the Company held during the financial year by each director and other 
members of key management personnel of the consolidated entity, including their personally related parties, is set out 
below: 
 
Options over ordinary shares Year Start 

Balance Granted 
Additions / 
(Disposals) 

(Exercised) 
/ (Lapsed)  

Year End Balance 
^ 

F. Poullas 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 
P. Tsegas 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 
M. E. Dajani - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 
M. Siva - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 
C. Bibby (Appointed 28 Jan 2022) ~ - - - - - 
G. Gunesekera  (Appointed 28 Jan 2022) ~ - - - - - 
H. Daruwalla (Appointed 31 Dec 2021) ~ - - - - - 
Prof. M. S. Whittingham (Resigned 31 Dec 2021) * 1,000,000 - - (1,000,000) - 
Z. Pavri (Resigned 24 Dec 2021) * - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 
Dr. R. Petty (Resigned 17 Nov. 2021) * - - - - - 
I. Nagendra - 500,000 - - 500,000 
R. Chittenden - 250,000 - - 250,000 
J. Behrens 750,000 250,000 - - 1,000,000 
J Rockett - - - - - 
D. Glasgow (Appointed 10 Feb 2022) ~ - - - - - 
Dr. J Nerkar (Appointed 19 July 2021) ~ - 125,000 - - 125,000 
 3,750,000 7,125,000 - (1,000,000) 9,875,000 

^ all options vest immediately and are convertible at anytime 
~ Opening balance as at appointment date 
* Closing balance as at resignation\termination date 
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RIGHTS HOLDING 
The number of rights over ordinary shares in the Company held during the financial year by each director and other members of 
key management personnel of the consolidated entity, including their personally related parties, is set out below: 
 

Ordinary shares Year Start 
Balance Granted 

Additions / 
(Disposals) (Lapsed)  

Year End 
Balance ^ 

F. Poullas 2,500,000 - (500,000) - 2,000,000 
P. Tsegas 2,500,000 - (500,000) - 2,000,000 
M. E. Dajani - - - - - 
M. Siva - - - - - 
C. Bibby (Appointed 28 Jan 2022) ~ - - - - - 
G. Gunesekera  (Appointed 28 Jan 2022) ~ - - - - - 
H. Daruwalla (Appointed 31 Dec 2021) ~ - - - - - 
Prof. M. S. Whittingham (Resigned 31 Dec 2021) * 2,500,000 - (500,000) (2,000,000) - 
Z. Pavri (Resigned 24 Dec 2021) * - - - - - 
Dr. R. Petty (Resigned 17 Nov. 2021)  * - - - - - 
 7,500,000 - (1,500,000) (2,000,000) 4,000,000 

^ all rights vest immediately and are convertible at anytime 
~ Opening balance as at appointment date 
* Closing balance as at resignation\termination date 

 
OTHER TRANSACTIONS WITH KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL AND THEIR RELATED PARTIES 
During or since the financial year, no Director of the Company has received or become entitled to receive a benefit, 
other than a benefit included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by the Directors 
shown in the consolidated accounts, by reason of a contract entered into by the Company or an entity that the Company 
controlled or a body corporate that was related to the Company when the contract was made or when the Director 
received, or became entitled to receive, the benefit with: 
• a Director, or 
• a firm of which a Director is a member, or 
• an entity in which a Director has substantial financial interest except the usual professional fees for their services 

paid by the Company to: 
      Aggregate Amount 

Identity of Related 
Party Nature of Relationship 

Terms & 
Conditions of 
Transaction  

Type of Transaction 2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

Strong Solutions Pty Ltd Mr. Frank Poullas is a related 
party of Strong Solutions Pty Ltd 
and a Director of Magnis Energy 
Technologies Ltd 
 

Normal 
commercial terms 

Consulting fees  
and  
IT Services 

215,600 
 

133,900 

208,000 
 

92,970 

Peter Tsegas Mr. Peter Tsegas is a Director of 
Magnis Energy Technologies 
Ltd 
 

Normal 
commercial terms 

Consulting fees  1,914 273,389 

Global Impact Initiative 
Pty Ltd 

Giles Gunesekera is a related 
party of Global Impact Initiative 
Pty Ltd and Non-executive 
Director of Magnis Energy 
Technologies Ltd 
 

Normal 
commercial terms 

Consulting fees  11,550 - 

Yatha Enterprises LLC 
 

Hoshi Daruwalla is a related 
party of Yatha Enterprises LLC 
and Non-executive Director of 
Magnis Energy Technologies 
Ltd 
 

Normal 
commercial terms 

Consulting fees  34,476 - 

Mr. Troy Grant 
(Resigned 23 Feb. 2021) 

Hon. Troy Grant was a Director 
of Magnis Energy Technologies 
Ltd 

Normal 
commercial terms 

Consulting fees  - 50,000 

    397,440 624,359 

2022 REMUNERATION REPORT 
The Remuneration Report received positive shareholder support from members greater than the 75% threshold at 
the last Annual General Meeting. 
 
This concludes the remuneration report, which has been audited. 
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SHARES UNDER OPTION  
Details of unissued shares under option as at 30 June 2022 in Magnis Energy Technologies Ltd are: 

 
Number of ordinary shares 

under option Class of shares Exercise price of 
option 

Expiry date of  
option 

  $  

2,000,000 Ordinary 0.700000 31/10/2022 

77,869,167 Ordinary 0.500000 25/05/2023 

375,000 Ordinary 0.500000 28/10/2023 

375,000 Ordinary 0.750000 28/10/2023 

1,375,000 Ordinary 0.800000 9/12/2024 

6,000,000 Ordinary 0.700000 25/11/2024 

10,000,000 Ordinary 0.500000 25/11/2024 

20,000,000 Ordinary 0.400000 25/11/2024 

117,994,167 WEIGHTED AVERAGE 0.500000  
 
WEIGHTED AVERAGE REMAINING LIFE OF OPTIONS: 1.3720 years  
 
The holders of these options do not have the right, by virtue of the option, to participate in any share issue or interest 
issue of the Company or of any other body corporate or registered scheme. No voting rights are attached to the options.  
 
During the 2022 financial year, there were 43,559,405 (2021:Nil) shares issued because of exercising of options 
 
PERFORMANCE RIGHTS  
Details of performance rights as at 30 June 2022 in Magnis Energy Technologies Ltd are: 
 

Number of ordinary shares 
under option Class of shares Exercise price of 

right 
Expiry date of  

right 
  $  

4,000,000 Ordinary 0.00 n\a 

    

4,000,000 WEIGHTED AVERAGE 0.00  
 
WEIGHTED AVERAGE REMAINING LIFE OF RIGHTS: 9.0005 years  
 
The holders of these MERT rights do not have the right, by virtue of the MERT right, to participate in any share issue or 
interest issue of the Company or of any other body corporate or registered scheme. No voting rights are attached to the 
MERT right. During the 2022 financial year, there were 1,500,000 (2021: Nil) shares issued because of converting of 
rights. 
 
INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 
The Company has agreed to indemnify all the directors and executive officers for any breach of laws by the Company 
for which they may be held personally liable, except where there is a lack of good faith. The agreement provides for the 
Company to pay liabilities or legal expenses to the extent permitted by law. 
 
During or since the financial year, the Company has paid premiums insuring all the Directors of Magnis Energy 
Technologies Ltd against costs incurred in defending proceedings for conduct other than:  

(a) a wilful breach of duty  
(b) a contravention of sections 182 or 183 of the Corporations Act, 2001  

as permitted by section 199B of the Corporations Act, 2001. The Company’s insurance contracts, prohibit the public 
disclosure of their terms and conditions, including the cost of the premiums. 
 
INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF AUDITOR 
To the extent permitted by law, the Company has not agreed to indemnify its auditors, Hall Chadwick Melbourne Audit, as 
part of the terms of its audit engagement agreement against claims by third parties arising from the audit. No payment has 
been made to indemnify Hall Chadwick Melbourne Audit during or since the year ended 30 June 2021. 
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PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY 

No person or entity has applied to the Court under Section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings 
on behalf of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is party for the purpose of taking 
responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or part of those proceedings. 

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

Subsequent events since the end of the year are outlined in Note 21 'Events After Reporting Period' to the Financial 
Statements. 

ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS 

The Company is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial / Directors' Reports) 
Instrument 2016/191, dated 24 March 2016, and in accordance with that Corporations Instrument amounts in the Directors' 
Report and the Financial Statements are rounded off to the nearest dollar, unless otherwise indicated. 

NON-AUDIT SERVICES 

Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor excluding GST\Taxes for non-audit services provided during the 
financial year by the auditor are outlined below: 

Hall Chadwick Melbourne Audit 
• Taxation services: $144,528

• Corporate services: $76,550

Shephard Consulting Limited: Dar es Salaam, Tanzania 

• Taxation services: $2,729

• Corporate services: $2,481

Sciarabba Walker & Company, LLP: New York, USA 
• Taxation services: $483

• Corporate services: $36,582

The Directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services during the financial year, by the auditor (or by another 
person or firm on the auditor's behalf), is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by 
the Corporations Act 2001. 

The Directors are of the opinion that the services as disclosed in Note 22 to the financial statements do not compromise 
the external auditor's independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons: 

• all non-audit services have been reviewed and approved to ensure that they do not impact the integrity and objectivity
of the auditor; and

• none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 11 O Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board, including
reviewing, or auditing the auditor's own work, acting in a management or decision-making capacity for the company,
acting as advocate for the company or jointly sharing economic risks and rewards.

AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE 

A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act, 2001 is set out 
on page 21. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors, pursuant to section 298(2)(a) of the Corporations Act, 2001. 

On behalf of the directors 

F Poullas 
Executive Chairman 

Sydney, 29 September 2022 
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Liability limited by a scheme approved under  

Professional Services Legislation. 

Hall Chadwick Melbourne Audit  

ABN 41 134 806 025 Registered Company Auditors. 

Level 14  440 Collins Street Melbourne  VIC  3000 T: +61 3 9820 6400 

Post:  Locked Bag 777  Collins Street West  VIC  8007  Australia 

www.hallchadwickmelb.com.au  E: hcm@hallchadwickmelb.com.au 
Hall Chadwick Association - a national group of independent Chartered Accountants and Business Advisory firms. 

MELBOURNE  SYDNEY  BRISBANE  ADELAIDE  PERTH   DARWIN 

MAGNIS ENERGY TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED 
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

ABN 26 115 111 763 

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION  
UNDER SECTION 307C OF THE CORPORATIONS ACT 2001  

TO THE DIRECTORS OF MAGNIS ENERGY TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED AND CONTROLLED 
ENTITIES 

In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act  2001, I am pleased to provide the following 
declaration of independence to the directors of Magnis Energy Technologies Limited and controlled 
entities. As the lead audit partner for the audit of the financial report of Magnis Energy Technologies 
Limited and controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2022, I declare that, to the best of my 
knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of: 

(i) the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to
the audit; and

(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

Anh (Steven) Nguyen 
Director 
Date: 30th September 2022 
Hall Chadwick Melbourne 
Level 14 440 Collins Street 
Melbourne VIC 3000 



 
 

      
   

 

   
    

 
  

     
    
    
    
    
   

  
      

       
     

   
    
    
    

   
   
   
   
   
   

    
    

     
     

    
    

    
     

     
    
    

     
     

    
    
    
    
    
    
    

     
     

    

    
    

     
     

   
   

 
  

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 

Notes Consolidated
2021

2022 

$ 
(Restated)

$ 
Income
Interest received 
Foreign exchange gain 
Profit on sale of fixed assets 
Other revenue 
R&D Grant 
Government Grants and Assistance 
Total income

  25,470 
  19,405 

  395,121 
  2 

11,681   
 -   

  451,679

174,359
12,782

242,755
-

69,191
120,500
619,587

30 

Expenditure
Administration expenses 
Depreciation expense 
Directors’ fees 
Employee benefits expense 
Interest expense 
Borrowing & Loan Costs 
Legal and consulting expenses 
Cost of Production expenditure 
Share based payment to employees 
Share based payment to non-employees 
Share of net loss of associate accounted for using the equity method 
Exploration and evaluation expenses 
Total expenditure

31 11,973,628
731,768
589,017

5,854,371
10,109,724
24,822,292
4,579,321
1,099,528

976,300
300,380

-
1,113,169

62,149,498

2,658,702
213,397
436,006

2,224,277
1,814,418
2,766,734
1,484,673

-
5,963

40,050
-

1,007,597
12,651,817

 
33 
32 

 
28(a) 
28(a) 

(Loss) before income tax expense 
Income tax expense 
Net (loss) for the year 

(61,697,819)
-

(61,697,819)

(12,032,230)
-

(12,032,230)
5 

Net profit / (loss) for the year attributable to:
Owners of Magnis Energy Technologies Ltd 
Non-controlling Interest 
Net (loss) for the year

(40,819,903)
(20,877,916)
(61,697,819)

(8,962,154)
(3,070,076)

(12,032,230)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) 
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or (loss) 
Change in fair value of financial assets at FVOCI - 7,600,580
 
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or (loss) 
Gain / (loss) on foreign currency translation 
Other comprehensive income / (loss) for the year, net of tax 
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year, net of tax

2,617,977
2,617,977

(59,079,842)

1,259,882
8,860,462

(3,171,768)

Total comprehensive earnings / (loss) for the year 
attributable to: 
Owners of parent entity 
Non-controlling Interest 
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year, net of tax

(60,076,958)
997,116

(59,079,842)

(3,115,243)
(56,525)

(3,171,768)

Basic loss per share (cents per share) 
Diluted loss per share (cents per share) 

23 
23 

(6.38)
(6.38)

(1.41)
(1.41)

The above Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying Notes
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 30 JUNE 2022

Notes Consolidated
2021

2022

$

(Restated)

$

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Trade and other receivables

Other assets

Total current assets

Non-current assets

Other assets - iM3NY

Financial assets at FVOCI

Right-of-use-assets

Development assets

Plant & equipment iM3NY

Plant & equipment

Total non-current assets

TOTAL ASSETS

6, 18(b)

7

8(a)

100,238,244

10,234,710

3,631,733

72,894,945

786,648

597,466

114,104,687 74,279,059

8(b)

9

10

11

12(a)

12(b)

13,655,704

15,096,142

30,149,281

6,170,865

49,414,529

44,343

12,316,982

15,096,142

266,305

4,982,338

21,552,388

14,840

114,530,864 54,228,995

228,635,551 128,508,054

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables

Lease Liability

Provisions

Borrowings - Conv. Note Facility

Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Lease Liability

Provisions

Borrowings

Total non-current liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET ASSETS

13

14(a)

14(b)

14(c)

3,646,194

386,200

176,430

1,750,000

5,958,824

3,672,966

214,076

48,345

-

3,935,387

14(a)

14(b)

14(c)

31,010,410

-

145,111,133

73,230

-

65,175,758

176,121,543 65,248,988

182,080,367 69,184,375

46,555,184 59,323,679

Equity

Contributed equity

Reserves

Accumulated Profits/(Losses)

Parent Interest - Capital and Reserves

Issued Capital - Non-controlling Interest

Accumulated Profits/(Losses) - Non-controlling Interest

Non-controlling interests

TOTAL EQUITY

15(a)

17

234,105,997

17,847,208

(206,510,298)

169,188,699

12,365,051

(137,450,231)

45,442,907 44,103,519

21,990,193

(20,877,916)

18,290,236

(3,070,076)

1,112,277 15,220,160

46,555,184 59,323,679

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying Notes 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Share 
Based 

Payment 
Reserves

$

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 
Reserve

$

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 Non 
controlling 
interests

$

Issued 
Capital

$

FVOCI
Reserve

$

Accumulated 
(Losses)

$
Total Equity

$Notes

At 1 July 2021 (Restated) 169,188,699 5,076,057 46,313 7,242,681 (137,450,231) 15,220,160 59,323,679

16,283,919

(40,819,903)

(28,871,239)

(20,877,916)

(12,587,320)

(61,697,819)

Loss for the previous period

Loss for the period
Other comprehensive 
income/(loss)

Total comprehensive 
income/(loss) for the year

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

- - - 2,617,977 - - 2,617,977

- - - 2,617,977 (24,535,984) (49,749,155) (71,667,162)

Transactions with owners:
Contributions of equity, net of 
transaction costs
Contributions of equity, net of 
transaction costs  iM3NY

Share based payment to P&L
Equity T\Fer on controlled 
entity share capital purchase
Share based payment
(Forfeited) \ to Controlled 
Equity

Non-Controlled interest

Reclassification from reserve

At 30 June 2022

42,237,203 - - - - 3,699,957 45,937,160

22,680,095

-

-

-

-

965,180

-

-

-

-

-

-

22,680,095

965,18028(a)

- - - - (12,582,868) - (12,582,868)

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,899,000

-

-

-

-

-

100

(31,941,315)

-

-

31,941,315

-

1,899,100

-

-

234,105,997 5,076,057 2,910,493 9,860,658 (206,510,298) 1,112,277 46,555,184

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 Share 
Based 

Payment 
Reserves

$

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 
Reserve

$

Non 
controlling 

interests
$

Issued 
Capital

$

FVOCI
Reserve

$

Accumulated 
(Losses)

$
Total Equity

$Notes

At 1 July 2020 128,625,905 (2,524,523) 63,200 5,982,799 (113,333,319) 5,809,563 24,623,625

Loss for the previous period

Loss for the period
Other comprehensive 
income/(loss)

Total comprehensive 
income/(loss) for the year

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(202,830)

(8,982,154)

(14,952,028)

(3,070,076)

(15,154,858)

(12,032,230)

-- 7,600,580 - 1,259,882 - 8,860,462

- 7,600,580 - 1,259,882 (9,164,984) (18,022,104) (18,326,626)

Transactions with owners:
Contributions of equity, net of 
transaction costs
Contributions of equity, net of 
transaction costs  iM3NY

Share based payment to P&L
Equity T\Fer on controlled 
entity share capital purchase
Share based payment 
(Forfeited) \ to Controlled 
Equity

Non-Controlled interest

Reclassification from reserve

At 30 June 2021(Restated)

39,106,954 - - - - 12,480,673 51,587,627

1,455,840

-

-

-

-

46,013

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,455,840

46,01328(a)

- - - - - - -

-

14,952,028

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(62,900)

-

-

-

-

-

100

(14,952,028)

-

(62,800)

-

-

169,188,699 5,076,057 46,313 7,242,681 (137,450,231) 15,220,160 59,323,679

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying Notes.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 
 

  Consolidated 
  2022 2021 

(Restated) 
  Notes $ $ 

Cash flows from operating activities    

Payments to suppliers and employees  (34,129,140) (15,704,828) 
Payment of exploration expenditure  (1,105,713) (1,013,435) 
Payment for development assets  (715,088) 119,279 
Payments to production  (1,099,528) - 
Interest and other costs of finance paid  (10,091,609) (1,922,824) 
Interest received  23,208 172,098 
Government Grants and Assistance  - 120,500 

R&D grant  11,681 69,191 

Net cash used in operating activities 18(a) (47,106,189) (18,160,019) 
    

Cash flows from investing activities    

Acquisition of plant & equipment  (34,105,551) (10,216,185) 
Acquisition of interest in associate  (17,605,634) (30,809,961) 

Acquisition of interest in financial asset  (1) (11,867) 

Proceeds from sale of property, plant, and equipment  395,121 242,754 

Payment of loan to related parties  6,526 902,432 

Net cash flows used in investing activities  (51,309,539) (39,892,827) 
    

Cash flows from financing activities    

Proceeds from issues/sale of ordinary shares and options  25,149,000 74,647,509 
Proceeds from issues/sale of ordinary shares - iM3NY  19,505,143 - 

Proceeds remaining from Conv. Note Facility  1,750,000 - 

Proceeds from exercise of options  21,779,703 - 
Capital raising expenses  (3,104,000) (1,991,491) 
Proceeds from borrowings  145,111,133 66,949,028 
Repayment of borrowings  (63,983,309) 4,793,910 

Transaction costs related to loans and borrowings  (26,902,575) (13,797,310) 

Net cash flows from financing activities  119,305,095 130,601,646 
    

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  20,889,367 72,548,800 
Net foreign exchange differences  6,453,932 (373,470) 

Add opening cash and cash equivalents  72,894,945 719,615 

Closing cash and cash equivalents 18(b) 100,238,244 72,894,945 

 
 
The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying Notes. 
 
 
 



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report are set out below. The financial report 
covers the consolidated group of Magnis Energy Technologies Ltd and controlled entities described in Note 27 (‘the 
Group’). Magnis Energy Technologies Ltd is a company, limited by shares, incorporated in Australia whose shares are 
publicly traded on the Australian Securities Exchange (‘ASX’). 

The following is a summary of the material accounting policies adopted by the consolidated Group in the preparation of 
the financial report. The accounting policies have been consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise 
stated. 

Basis of preparation 
These general-purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board [‘AASB’] and the Corporations Act 2001, as 
appropriate for ‘profit’ orientated entities. 

[i] Statement of Compliance

These financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards [‘IFRS’] as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board [‘IASB’] 

[ii] Historical cost convention

The financial report has been prepared on an accrual basis under the historical cost convention, as modified by the 
revaluation of selected non-current assets, financial assets, and financial liabilities for which the fair value basis of 
accounting has been applied. 

[iii] Critical accounting estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving 
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial 
statements are disclosed in Note 2.  

The financial report is prepared in Australian dollars, $. 

Going Concern 
The Group has a multi strategy business model across the Lithium-ion battery supply chain that includes manufacturing 
of lithium-ion battery cells in the USA, a greenfield battery project in Australia and a pre-mine development of its Nachu 
Graphite project in Tanzania.  

For the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group reported a net loss of $61,697,819 (2021: $12,032,230) and net operating 
cash outflows of $47,106,189 (2021: $18,160,019). The operating cash outflows have been funded by cash inflows from 
equity raisings and exercise of options of $40,720,703 (2021: $74,647,509) during the year. As at 30 June 2022 the Group 
had net current assets of $118,055,268 (2021: $70,343,672) including cash reserves of $100,238,244 2021:$72,894,945). 
The Company’s cash portion was $20,075,464 while iM3NY reported $80,162,780 as at year end. 

The company has assessed its ability to make further share placements (and /or secure Debt Finance). Based on the 
above, the directors believe the financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which contemplates 
the continuity of normal business activities, and the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course 
of business. 
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If the assumptions underpinning the basis of preparation do not occur as anticipated, there is material uncertainty that may 
cast significant doubt over whether the Group will continue to operate as a going concern. If the Group is unable to continue 
as a going concern it may be required to realise its assets and extinguish its liabilities other than in the normal course of 
business and at amounts different to those stated in the financial statements. No adjustments have been made to the 
financial report relating to the recoverability and classification of the asset carrying amounts or the classification of liabilities 
that might be necessary should the Group not continue as a going concern. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 28 September 2022



Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued 
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New accounting standards and interpretations 
(i) New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year and the Group has adopted no 
new or amended Australian Accounting Standards and AASB Interpretations as of 1 July 2021 other than the adoption 
by iM3NY of AASB 16. 

Exploration and evaluation costs 
Exploration and evaluation expenditure is expensed directly to profit or loss when incurred. Accounting policies for the 
Group’s development assets are outlined in Note 11 ‘Development Assets’. 

Fair value measurement 
When an asset or liability, financial or non-financial, is measured at fair value for recognition or disclosure purposes, the 
fair value is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date; and assumes that the transaction will take place either in the 
principal market, or, in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market. 

Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, 
assuming they act in their economic best interests. For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement is based on its 
highest and best use. Valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are 
available to measure fair value, are used, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs, and minimising the use of 
unobservable inputs 

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified into three levels, using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the 
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. Classifications are reviewed at each reporting date and 
transfers between levels are determined based on a reassessment of the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement. 

For recurring and non-recurring fair value measurements, external valuers may be used when internal expertise is either 
not available or when the valuation is deemed to be significant. External valuers are selected based on market knowledge 
and reputation. Where there is a significant change in fair value of an asset or liability from one period to another, an 
analysis is undertaken, which includes a verification of the major inputs applied in the latest valuation and a comparison, 
where applicable, with external sources of data. 

Goods and services tax (GST) and/or value added tax (VAT) 
Revenues, expenses, and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST/VAT except: 

• where the GST/VAT incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in
which case the GST/VAT is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item
as applicable; and

• receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST/VAT included.

The net amount of GST/VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or 
payables in the statement of financial position. 

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis and the GST/VAT component of cash flows 
arising from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority, are 
classified as operating cash flows. 

Goods and services tax (GST) and/or value added tax (VAT) - continued 
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST/VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority. 

Withholding tax and other indirect taxes are incurred on amounts of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority. 
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Foreign currency translation 
Functional and presentation currency 
The functional currency of each of the Group’s entities is measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which that entity operates. The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars 
which is the parent entity’s functional and presentation currency. 

Transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the date of 
the transaction. Foreign currency monetary items are re-translated at the year-end exchange rate. Non-monetary items 
measured at historical cost continue to be carried at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary 
items measured at fair value are reported at the exchange rate at the date when fair values were determined. Exchange 
differences arising on the translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss. 

Financial statements of foreign operations 
The financial results and position of foreign operations whose functional currency is not Australian dollars, the Group’s 
presentation currency, are translated as follows: 
• assets and liabilities are translated at year-end exchange rates prevailing at that reporting date
• income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for each month during the period.

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations are transferred directly to the Group’s foreign currency 
translation reserve in other comprehensive income. These differences are recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income in the period in which the operation is disposed. 

Employee benefits 
Provision is made for employee benefits accumulated as a result of employees rendering services up to the reporting 
date. These benefits include wages and salaries, annual leave, and long service leave when it is probable that settlement 
will be required. 

Liabilities arising in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and any other employee benefits expected to be settled 
within twelve months of the reporting date are measured at their nominal amounts based on remuneration rates which 
are expected to be paid when the liability is settled including related on-costs, such as workers compensation and payroll 
tax. 

Revenue recognition 
Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. 

Contributed equity 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Any transaction costs arising on the issue of ordinary shares are recognised 
directly in equity as a reduction of the share proceeds received. 

Restatement of comparatives 
When required by accounting standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation 
for the current financial year. 

Prior Period Error and Restatement of Balances relating to iM3NY 

Prior period error and restatement 
The management of the subsidiary iM3NY identified various restatements in the company’s previously issued consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2021. These were corrected and balances were restated within the financial 
statements for the year ended 30 June 2022.  

a. Property, Plant and Equipment- restatement
During the reporting period, the management of the iM3NY carried out a review of the carrying value of the property,
plant and equipment noting a material overstatement reported for the year ended 30 June 2021 totalling a cumulative
AUD 1,738,135. The error was related to storage of assets incurred in financial year 2019 which should have been
expensed.
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b. Bridge loan costs- restatement 

The management of the iM3NY carried out a review of the bridge loan costs noting a material overstatement of 
expenses and equity reported for the year ended 30 June 2021 totalling a cumulative AUD 5,752,096. The error was 
related to shares issued a lender at an erroneous value. 

c. Share based compensation- restatement

The management of iM3NY has identified that amount in respect of share-based compensation of the amount had not 
been processed in the income statement totalling to AUD$1,862,451 resulting in increase of employee expenses and 
in equity 

d. Capitalised loan costs- restatement

The management of iM3NY has also carried out a review of the capitalised loan costs carried forward from previous 
year and noted a material overstatement of AUD$6,782,370. The error related to an amount paid to a unit holder which 
should have been categorised as cost of funds instead of erroneously being presented as capitalised loan cost.  

e. Unamortised loan costs- restatement 

During the reporting period, it was noted by the management of iM3NY that the interest expenses and the unamortised 
loan costs were overstated by an amount of AUD$345,099. The error was a result of unprocessed reduction in loan 
costs. 

f. Member’s equity – restatement 

2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS 

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts in the financial statements.  

Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, 
revenue, and expenses. Management bases its judgements, estimates and assumptions on historical experience and 
on other various factors, including expectations of future events, that management believes to be reasonable under the 
circumstances.  
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Balance Sheet  

Consolidated    iM3NY standalone  

30 June 2021
(Previously 
reported)  

AUD $ 

Adjustment 

AUD $ 

30 June 2021 
(Restated) 

AUD $ 

30 June 2021
(Previously 
reported)  

AUD $ 

Adjustment 

AUD $ 

30 June 
2021 

(Restated) 

AUD $ 

 iM3NY PPE   23,290,573 (1,738,135) 21,552,438 23,290,573 (1,738,135) 21,552,438 

 Other assets (capitalised loan costs)   19,073,581 (6,782,370) 12,291,211 19,073,581 (6,782,370) 12,291,211 

 Other assets (amortization of loan costs)  (985,255) 345,099 (640,156) (985,255) 345,099 (640,156) 

 Member's equity  179,841,178 (10,652,479) 169,188,699 56,200,581 (10,652,479) 45,548,102 

 Members equity- accumulated loss   138,095,114 (644,783) 137,450,331 1,566,138 1,738,135 3,304,273 

 Non-controlling interest  13,366,740 1,853,420 15,220,160                  -                      -                    -   

 Income Statement  

 Bridge loan expenses (within other expenses)  5,752,096 (5,752,096)                    -   5,752,096 (5,752,096)                  -   

 Salary expenses   850,373 1,862,451 2,712,824 850,373 1,862,451 2,712,824 

 Interest expenses   346,062 (346,062)                    -   346,062 (346,062)                  -   

29

Pursuant to the point b, c and d above, the impact on the other side will be related to member’s equity. Member’s 
equity will be reversed by a total amount of AUD$10,652,479. 
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The resulting accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal the related actual results. The estimate, 
judgements and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities (refer to the respective Notes) within the next financial year are discussed below. 

Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic 
Judgement has been exercised in considering the impacts that the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has had, or may 
have, on the consolidated entity based on known information. This consideration extends to the nature of the products 
and services offered, customers, supply chain, staffing and geographic regions in which the consolidated entity operates. 
Other than as addressed in specific Notes, there does not currently appear to be either any significant impact upon the 
financial statements or any significant uncertainties with respect to events or conditions which may impact the 
consolidated entity unfavourably as at the reporting date or subsequently as a result of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) 
pandemic.  

Share-based payment transactions 

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees and directors by reference to the fair value 
of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value of share options is determined by an 
external valuer using a binomial option pricing model that uses the assumptions detailed in Note 28(g). 

Indirect tax receivables and liabilities 

The Group is subject to indirect taxes in Australia and the jurisdiction where it has foreign operations. Significant 
judgement is required in determining the amounts recorded as receivables for recovery of such taxes and payables for 
payment of such taxes. The Group is subject to an audit by a tax authority in a jurisdiction in which it operates.  

The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be 
due. The Group has adequately recorded receivables and payables for the amounts it believes will ultimately be payable. 
Where the final outcome of any matters is different from amounts recorded, such differences will impact the indirect tax 
receivables or provision in the period in which such determination is made. 

Fair value estimates of financial instruments 

The Group is required to classify all assets and liabilities, measured at fair value, using a three-level hierarchy, based 
on the lowest level of input that is significant to the entire fair value measurement, being:  
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the 

measurement date; 
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 

directly or indirectly; and 
Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 

Considerable judgement is required to determine what is significant to fair value and therefore which category the asset 
or liability is placed in can be subjective. The fair value of assets and liabilities classified as Level 3 is determined by the 
use of valuation models. These include discounted cash flow analysis or the use of observable inputs that require 
significant adjustments based on unobservable inputs. 

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION
Identification of reportable segments 
The Group has identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the 
executive management team in assessing performance and in determining the allocation of resources.  

During the financial year, the Group continued its participation in global consortia, including ownership, to operate a 
lithium-ion battery Gigafactory in the USA as well as a development project in Australia. This activity is supplemented 
by the development and planned mining of natural flake graphite for use in various industries, including in particular 
batteries for storing electrical energy. Due to the infancy of its interests in the lithium-ion battery sector, the Group has 
determined its reportable segments for the financial year ended 30 June 2022 as follows: 

• lithium-ion battery investments
• graphite exploration and development
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2022 

Lithium-ion 
Battery 

Investment 
USA 

$ 

Lithium-ion 
Battery 

Investment 
Australia 

$ 

Graphite 
Exploration & 
Development 

Tanzania 
$ 

Consolidated 
$ 

Segment financial information 

Segment revenue 395,121 22,495 24,063 451,679 
Segment loss before tax (49,650,216) - (12,047,603) (61,697,819) 
Segment current assets 103,123,815 58,092 20,832,185 124,014,092 
Segment non-current assets 98,339,812 - 6,281,647 104,621,459 
Segment liabilities (179,555,851) - (2,524,516) (182,080,367) 

2021 

Lithium-ion 
Battery 

Investment 
USA 

$ 

Lithium-ion 
Battery 

Investment 
Australia 

$ 

Graphite 
Exploration & 
Development 

Tanzania 
$ 

Consolidated 
$ 

Segment financial information 

Segment revenue 242,844 20,370 356,373 619,587 
Segment loss before tax (2,093,821) - (9,938,409) (12,032,230) 
Segment current assets 69,337,823 55,591 4,885,645 74,279,059 
Segment non-current assets 44,850,037 - 9,378,958 54,228,995 
Segment liabilities (68,471,981) - (712,394) (69,184,375) 

Accounting policies 
The Group applies AASB 8 Operating Segments and determines its operating segments to be based on its geographical 
location and also by operational type. Lithium-ion battery investment refers to the Group’s ownership in planned 
Gigafactories via the Global Consortiums: Imperium3 Pty Ltd and Imperium3 New York Inc. Graphite exploration and 
development currently refers to the pre-development operation of the Nachu Graphite Project in Tanzania. The financial 
performance of these segments is reported to the Board on a periodical basis. The accounting standards adopted in 
preparing internal reports to the Board are consistent with those adopted in preparing this annual report. Operating 
segments are subject to risks and returns that are different to those of segments operating in other economic 
environments. 

Inter-segment transactions 
To avoid asymmetrical allocation within segments which management believe would be inconsistent policy, if items of 
revenue and expense are not allocated to operating segments then any associated assets and liabilities are also not 
allocated to segments. 

Segment assets and liabilities 
Segment assets include all assets used by a segment and consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents. Development 
assets, plant and equipment, and trade and other receivables. While most of these assets can be directly attributable to 
individual segments, the carrying amounts of certain assets used jointly by segments are not allocated. Segment 
liabilities consist primarily of trade and other creditors and employee benefits. Segment assets and liabilities do not 
include deferred income taxes. 

4. DIVIDENDS PAID OR PROVIDED FOR ON ORDINARY SHARES
No dividends were paid or declared since the start of the financial year. 
No recommendation for payment of dividends has been made. 
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5. INCOME TAX

Consolidated
2021

2022 (Restated)
$ $

Current income tax

Current income tax credit/(expense)

Tax losses not recognised as not probable

(Under)/over provision in prior year

Deferred income tax

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences

Tax losses brought to account to offset net deferred tax liability

2,041,013

-

319,149

-

- -

Income tax credit/(expense) reported in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income - -

(a) Statement of Changes in Equity

Deferred income tax related to items charged or credited directly 
to equity

Share issue costs

Deferred tax offset

Income tax benefit reported in Equity

500,660 516,517

(500,660) (516,517)

- -

(b) Tax Reconciliation

A reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit 
before income tax multiplied by the Group’s applicable income tax rate is as 
follows:

2022 2021

Accounting (loss) before tax (61,697,819) (12,032,230)

At the Group’s statutory 30% tax rate (2022:30%)

Share based payment expense

Movement in temporary differences

Share of net P&L of associate accounted for using equity method

Exploration and evaluation expense write off

Non-assessable R&D offset income 

Deductible option issue costs

Other adjustments

Tax losses not brought to account

Loss recoupment  

Income tax (expense) reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income

3,609,668

(12,015)

189,463

-

(110,063)

20,757

244,090

(50,390)

(3,891,510)

-

- -

The benefit of these losses and temporary differences will only be obtained if:

 the Group derives future assessable income of a nature and an amount sufficient to enable the benefit from 
the deductions for the loss to be realised;

the Group continues to comply with the condition of deductibility imposed by law; and

no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the Group in realising the benefit from the deduction for the loss.





At the reporting date, the Group has estimated tax losses of (refer below) available to offset against future taxable 
income subject to continuing to meet relevant statutory tests.
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18,509,346

(90,114)

(596,151)
-

(48,125)

3,504

430,330

(626,478)

(17,582,312)

-

3,572,361

(3,891,510)

(319,149)

15,541,299

(17,582,312)

(2,041,013)
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To the extent that it does not offset a deferred tax liability, a deferred tax asset has not been recognised for these losses 
because it is not probable that future taxable income will be available to use against such losses. 

$ 
Group tax losses - 30 June 2022 29,536,041 
Transferred tax losses 26,706,090 
Tax losses in foreign companies 116,707,649 
Total tax losses - 30 June 2022 172,949,780 

Accounting policies 
The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on 
the national income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by the changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities 
attributable to temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the 
financial statements, and to unused tax losses. Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the 
reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting 
purposes. 

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except: 
• where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction

that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; or

• when the taxable temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests in
joint ventures, and the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets 
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 
temporary difference, and the carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be used, except: 
• where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial

recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• when the deductible temporary differences is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests
in joint ventures, in which case a deferred tax asset is only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be applied.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset 
to be utilised. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the 
year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates [and tax laws] that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date. Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised 
in equity and not in the statement of financial position. 

Tax consolidated group 
The Company and its wholly owned Australian subsidiaries have elected to form a tax consolidated group from 1 July 
2015, with Magnis Energy Technologies Ltd being the head entity within that group. These entities are taxed as a 
single entity. 

6. CURRENT ASSETS - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Consolidated 

2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

Cash on hand 814 2,651 
Cash at bank 20,074,650 3,572,435 
Cash at bank – iM3NY 80,162,780 69,319,859 

100,238,244 72,894,945 
Accounting policies 
For statement of cash flows presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at 
call with financial institutions, other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of 
cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of change in value, and bank overdrafts.  
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7. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Consolidated 
2022 2021 

$ $ 
Accrued interest 377 240 
Goods and services tax recoverable 421,907 239,341 
Prepayments and other receivables 183,836 396,090 
Prepayments and other receivables- iM3NY 9,477,613 - 
Less: allowance for expected credit loss - - 
Security deposit 150,977 150,977 

10,234,710 786,648 
Accounting policies  
Other receivables are recognised and measured at amortised cost, less any allowance for expected credit losses. 

Allowance for expected credit losses 

The consolidated entity has recognised a loss of $Nil (2021: Nil) in the profit or loss, in respect of the expected credit losses 
related to trade and other receivables for the year ended 30 June 2022 

8(a) OTHER ASSETS 
Consolidated 

2022 2021 
(Restated) 

$ $ 
 Accrued interest  22,495 20,370 
 Short-term loan between Charge CCCV LLC & iM3NY - 14,524
 Less: allowance for expected credit loss  - -
 Short-term loan - Imperium3 Townsville  35,221 35,221 
 Inventory - iM3NY  817,561 - 
 Capitalised Loan Costs - iM3NY  1,690,631 527,351 
 Advances/Deposits-Purchases - iM3NY  1,065,825 - 

3,631,733 597,466 
Accounting policies  
Short-term loan between Charge CCCV LLC & iM3NY 

Loan receivables are recognised and measured at amortised cost, less any allowance for expected credit losses. All 
remaining amounts due from C4V in 2021 were received during the year. 

Allowance for expected credit losses 

The consolidated entity has recognised a loss of $Nil (2021: $Nil) in profit or loss in respect of the expected credit losses 
related to trade and other receivables for the year ended 30 June 2022. 
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8(b) OTHER ASSETS – iM3NY 
Consolidated 

 Movements in the allowance for provisions are as follows: 2022 2021 
(Restated) 

$ $ 
 Capitalised Loan Costs - iM3NY  4,025,873 13,302,239 
 Less: allowance for amortisation - Loan Costs - iM3NY (279,574) (985,257) 

Advances/deposits purchases- iM3NY 9,909,405 - 

13,655,704 12,316,982 
Accounting policies  
Capitalised Loan Costs and Allowance for Amortisation of Capitalised Loan Costs - iM3NY 

These are capitalised expenses incurred in securing and refinancing loaned funds for iM3NY Inc. and includes such items 
as legal fees, agency fees, borrowing costs and other loan related costs that will be amortised in accordance to their 
respective nature. The consolidated entity has recognised $3,746,299 (2021: $12,316,982) in respect of capitalised loan 
costs, net of amortization, currency translation and loan costs w\off related to refinancing of Riverstone loan for the year 
ended 30 June 2022. 

Consolidated 
 Movements in Capitalised Loan Costs are as follows: 2022 2021 

$ $ 
 Opening balance  12,316,982 - 
 Additional loans capitalised  - 13,302,239
 Less: allowance for amortisation - loan costs  705,683 (985,257)
 Loan costs written off during the year due to refinancing (10,068,369) - 
 Currency translation  792,003 - 
 Closing balance  3,746,299 12,316,982 

9. FINANCIAL ASSET at FVOCI
Consolidated 

2022 2021 
$ $ 

 Equity investment in Charge CCCV LLC 15,096,142 15,096,142 

On 29 March 2018, Magnis announced a strategic investment to acquire a 10% interest in leading US based, lithium-ion 
battery technology group, Charge CCCV LLC (‘C4V’) and secured an exclusive agreement over selective intellectual 
property, which will assist in driving the Company’s growth in the lithium-ion battery sector. Magnis has appointed one 
representative to the Board of Directors of C4V and has also secured a first right of refusal for any future capital raising 
initiatives that C4V undertake. Further to the agreement, Magnis also has an exclusive agreement for 5 years over selected 
C4Vintellectual property, which will expand the Company’s material technologies in the rapidly growing lithium-ion battery 
sector. On 28 April 2021 and as clarified in announcement on 9 Sept 2021, Riverstone Credit Partners received a 3.50% 
stake in C4V, which effectively diluted the Company’s C4V ownership to 9.65%. 

As at 30 June 2022 the Company’s ownership in C4V remains at 9.65% (2021:9.65%). 

Accounting policies 
(i) Classification of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income comprise:
• equity securities which are not held for trading, and for which the group has made an irrevocable election at

initial recognition to recognise changes in fair value through OCI rather than profit or loss as these are
strategic investments and the group considered this to be more relevant, and

• debt securities where the contractual cash flows are solely principal and interest, and the objective of the
group’s business model is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets.
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Upon disposal of these equity investments, any balance within the OCI reserve for these equity investments is 
reclassified to retained earnings and is not reclassified to profit or loss.(iii) Debt investments at fair value through 
other comprehensive income
There are no debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) for both years. Information 
about the methods and assumptions used in determining fair value is provided in Note 16.

10. RIGHT OF USE ASSET

Consolidated

2022

$

266,305

29,091,679

1,509,925

(718,628)

2021

$

476,363

-

(8,026)

(202,032)

Right-of-use assets at start of period

Additions

Currency Translation

Depreciation expense

Right-of-use assets – Closing Carrying value 30,149,281 266,305

Accounting policies 

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or 
before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently 
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

The ‘additions’ reflect the adoption of AASB 16 by iM3NY and the amount is largely offset by  the increase in Lease Liabilities, 
see note 14(a).

11. DEVELOPMENT ASSETS

Consolidated
2022

$
2021

$
Development assets 6,170,865 4,982,338

6,170,865 4,982,338

Accounting policies 

Impairment

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying values of its development assets to determine whether there is any 
indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being 
the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs of disposal or value in use, is compared to the asset’s carrying value. Any 
excess of the asset’s carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed to profit or loss. Where it is not possible to 
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

As at 30 June 2022, no impairment to the carrying value of the development assets has been deemed necessary.
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Development assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Cost represents the 
accumulation of all the compensation and resettlement expenditure incurred by, or on behalf of, the entity in relation to 
areas of interest in which construction or development has commenced. Compensation and resettlement expenditures 
are capitalised as development assets. Development costs in which the Group has an interest are amortised over the 
life of the area of interest to which the costs relate to on a units of production basis over the estimated proven and 
probable ore reserves and proportion of other measured and indicated mineral resources where there is a high degree 
of confidence that they can be extracted economically. Changes in the life of the area of interest and/or ore reserves,
and other mineral resources are accounted for prospectively.

As at 30 June 2022, the depreciation in development asset has not commenced yet because the exploration of mine 
has not begun.



  

        

 

 
 

  

 
 

 
 

 
   

   
    

   

 
   
  

   

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

  
 
  

 
 

 

  
 

    
 

 
 

 

  
 

 

    
 

  
 
 

  
  

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
   

   
   

   

   
     

 
  

Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued

Movements in development assets
Movements in development assets during the financial year, are set out as follows

Consolidated
2022

$
2021

$
Opening balance
Development costs capitalised during the year
Currency translation difference

Closing balance

4,982,338
715,088

5,577,131
(119,279)

473,439 (475,514)

6,170,865 4,982,338

12 (a) PLANT AND EQUIPMENT iM3NY
Consolidated

2022 2021
$

$
(Restated)

Plant and Equipment - iM3NY 49,414,529 21,552,388

Accounting policies 

iM3NY P&E assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

Impairment

In October 2019, the Group had an independent valuation undertaken by global engineering, architecture and 
consultancy company Ramboll Energy were consulted to confirm that the iM3NY plant and equipment US$71,340,620 
valuation.

On 19 April 2021 when the Company announced that its majority owned subsidiary Imperium3 New York Inc. (iM3NY), 
had received funding to fast-track production at its lithium-ion battery plant in Endicott, NY, Riverstone Credit Partners, 
L.P. confirmed through its due diligence that iM3NY has US$230Million of manufacturing assets in place.

As at 30 June 2022, no impairment to the carrying value of the iM3NY P&E assets has been deemed necessary.

Movements in iM3NY P&E assets
Consolidated

2022
$

Movements in iM3NY P&E assets during the financial year, are set out 
as follows:

2021
$

(Restated)
11,971,650
10,214,894

-

Opening balance
iM3NY P&E costs capitalised during the year
Reclassification into other asset
Currency translation difference

21,552,388
34,027,966
(9,909,405)

3,743,580 (634,156)

Closing balance - Carrying value 49,414,529 21,552,388
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Costs represent the accumulation of all the plant and equipment and expenditure incurred by, or on behalf of, the entity 
in relation to the establishment and preparation of the production plant. iM3NY P&E costs in which the Group has an 
interest are amortised over the projected life of the production plant. As at 30 June 2022, as the company’s assets 
have not been brought into use, it has not been depreciated.
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12. (b)  PLANT AND EQUIPMENT – MNS & UTL
Consolidated 

2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

Plant and Equipment – Magnis & UTL 44,343 14,840 

Accounting policies 
Each class of plant and equipment is carried at cost, less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses. 

The cost of fixed assets constructed within the Group includes the cost of materials, direct labour, borrowing costs and 
an appropriate proportion of fixed and variable overheads.  

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item 
can be measured reliably.  

All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

Depreciation 

Depreciation is provided on plant and equipment, motor vehicles, office equipment, furniture, and fittings, and is 
calculated on a straight-line basis, commencing from the time the asset is first used, so as to write off the net costs of 
each asset over its expected useful life. 

The following useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation: 
• Plant & equipment 2 to 5 years
• Vehicles 2 to 5 years
• Office equipment, furniture & fittings 2 to 20 years

The residual value and useful life of assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. 

Gains and losses on disposal(s), if any, are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount. These are 
included in profit or loss. 

Impairment 

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying values of its plant & equipment assets to determine whether 
there is any indication that those assets have been impaired.  

If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to 
sell and value in use, is compared to the asset’s carrying value.  

Any excess of the asset’s carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed to profit or loss. 

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

As at 30 June 2022, no impairment to the carrying value of its plant & equipment assets has been deemed necessary 
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12. (b)  PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - CONTINUED

Reconciliation of carrying amounts at the beginning and end of the financial year 
Consolidated Group 

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 Plant and 
equipment Office equipment Software 

Office furniture 
and 

fittings 
Office 

improvements 
Motor 

vehicles Total 
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Balance at 1 July 2021 net of 
accumulated depreciation 1,058 12,972 - 628 - 182 14,840 
Additions 32,709 35,228 - 1,211 5,447 2,990 77,585 
Disposals - - - - - - - 
Currency translation differences (18,025) (9,639) - (1,010) (3,958) (2,308) (34,941) 
Depreciation charge for the year  (6,781) (3,626) - (381) (1,489) (864) (13,141)
Balance at 30 June 2022 net of 
accumulated depreciation 8,961 34,934 - 448 - - 44,343 

At 30 June 2022 
Cost 443,927 140,455 - 16,986 66,502 36,505 704,376 
Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment (434,966) (105,521) - (16,538) (66,502) (36,505) (660,033) 
Net carrying amount 8,961 34,934 - 448 - - 44,343 

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 
Balance at 1 July 2020 net of 
accumulated depreciation 1,856 9,756 - 93 - 4,386 16,091 
Additions - 9,412 - 654 - - 10,066 
Disposals - - - - - - - 
Currency translation differences (155) 663 - (93) - (367) 48 
Depreciation charge for the year  (643) (6,859) - (26) - (3,837) (11,365) 
Balance at 30 June 2021 net of 
accumulated depreciation 1,058 12,972 - 628 - 182 14, 840 

At 30 June 2021 
Cost 411,218 105,227 - 15,775 61,055 33,516 626,791 
Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment (410,160) (92,255) 

-
(15,147) (61,055) (33,334) (611,951) 

Net carrying amount 1,058 12,972 - 628 - 182 14,840 
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13. (a) TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLE

Consolidated 
2022 2021 

 Current  $ $ 
 Trade payables  3,260,299 3,445,570 
 Other payables and accruals 385,895 227,396 

3,646,194 3,672,966 
Accounting policies 
Trade and other payables are recognised when the Group becomes obliged to make further payments from the 
purchase of goods and services and are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any 
impairment losses. 

14. (a) LEASE LIABILITIES

Consolidated 
2022 2021 

Current $ $ 
Lease Liabilities 386,200 214,076 

386,200 214,076 

Non-current 
Lease Liabilities 31,010,410 73,230 

31,010,410 73,230 
Accounting policies 
The lease liability is measured at the present value of the fixed and variable lease payments, net of cash lease 
incentives, that are not paid at the balance date. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and a 
reduction of the lease liability using the incremental borrowing rate implicit in the lease where available, or an assumed 
Group incremental borrowing rate, to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. 

The increase in lease liabilities is largely due to the adoption of  AASB 16 by iM3NY, see note 10. 

14. (b) PROVISIONS

Consolidated 
2022 2021 

Current $ $ 
Provisional for annual leave 176,430 48,345 

176,430 48,345 

Non-current 
Provision for lease liability - - 
Provision for long service leave - - 

- - 

Annual Leave and Long Service Leave 
An estimate of annual leave is provided after reviewing relevant workplace agreements and industrial awards for 
respective employees and determining entitlement at the reporting date. The cost includes an account of direct 
employment costs.  

The significant assumptions applied in the measurement of this provision include devising probabilities for employees 
complying with the legislative requirements [years of service] and the computed employment costs, discounted by 
using RBA bond rates applied for the respective years of service. 
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Accounting policies 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation [legal or constructive] as a result of a past event, 
and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation 
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the 
present obligation at the reporting date.  

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash 
flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, 
the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision resulting from the passage of time is recognised in finance 
costs. 

14 (c) BORROWINGS
Consolidated 

2022 2021 
Current $ $ 
Convertible Note Facility 1,750,000 - 

1,750,000 - 

Non-current 
Senior Secured Loan - iM3NY 145,111,133 65,175,758 

145,111,133 65,175,758 
Convertible Note Facility 
At period end, LIND received all their entitled shares issued, effectively extinguishing their $10.5M portion of the 
convertible note, while shares issued to SBP effectively reduced their $10.5M portion of the convertible note to 
$1,750,000 which remains outstanding at year end. 

Secured loans and borrowings 
On 19 April 2022, Magnis announced that its majority owned subsidiary Imperium3 New York Inc(iM3NY) entered into a 
US$100 million loan facility (‘loan facility’), which was utilised to retire its US$50 million senior secured loan facility entered 
into with Riverstone and provide additional cash and financial flexibility to take advantage of new long-term growth 
opportunities.  

The key terms of the loan facility are: Lender: ACP POST OAK CREDIT I LLC through Atlas Credit Partners (‘ACP’) in 
collaboration with Aon, Amount: US$100 Million, Term: 3 Years, Guarantor: Charge CCCV LLC (C4V), Security: a lien 
over the assets of iM3NY and the intellectual property of C4V (a minority shareholder in iM3NY) provided to iM3NY, and 
Interest cost: Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR - that has a floor of 1%) + a 6% margin and Credit Insurance 
Wrap Premium, which in Year 1 is 8.25%, Year 2 is 4.6% or 2.5% (if milestone achieved) and in Year 3 is 4.35% or 2.25% 
(if further milestone achieved).  

Accounting policies 
Loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Loans and borrowings are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the 
redemption amount is recognised in the Income Statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest 
method.  

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the 
liability for at least 12 months after the balance date.  

The component of secured notes that exhibits characteristics of debt is recognised as a liability in the Statement of 
Financial Position, net of transaction costs. On issue of secured notes, the fair value of the liability component is 
determined using a market rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond and this amount is carried as a liability on the 
amortised cost basis until extinguished on conversion or redemption. The increase in the liability due to the passage 
of time is recognised as a finance cost. The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the equity component and is 
recognised in shareholders’ equity. The carrying amount of the equity component is not remeasured in subsequent 
years. 
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15. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY

Number 2022 
a) Issued capital of shares $ 

(Restated) 
Ordinary Fully Paid shares 966,485,329 234,105,997 

Ordinary Fully Paid shares carry a vote per share and carry a right to dividends. 

Number 2022 
b) Movements in fully paid shares of shares $ 
At 30 June 2021(Restated) 851,434,546 169,188,699 
Shares restructure - iM3NY - 22,680,095
Shares issued 84,991,378 23,561,500
Exercise of unlisted options 43,559,405 21,779,703
Exercise of unlisted rights 1,500,000 - 
Transaction costs 5,000,000 (3,104,000) 
Share issue to MEST (20,000,000) - 
At 30 June 2022 966,485,329 234,105,997 

During the year the Company raised funds from equity as follows: 

• $23,561,500 (2021: $41,649,995) from share placements of 84,991,378 (2021:166,428,325) Ordinary Fully Paid
shares. Transaction costs amounted to $3,104,000 (2021: $2,543,041).

• $21,779,703 (2021: $Nil) from the exercise of unlisted options, issuing 43,559,405 (2021:Nil) Ordinary Fully Paid
shares.

c) Capital management
Management’s prime objective when managing the Group’s capital is to ensure the entity continues as a going 
concern as well as ensuring that funds are appropriately expended. The capital structure is intended to provide the 
lowest cost of capital available to the Group considering its present phase of operations. 

Capital risk management 

Over the coming year the group is proposing to undertake an exploration program that requires a significant outlay 
of funds. Management monitors this expenditure against the budget approved by the Board. A near term capital 
raising or asset sale should ensure the group has a safety margin of funds available to continue with its desired 
level of operations - refer Note 1. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the consolidated entity may 
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets 
to reduce debt.  

16. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are the equivalent to the net carrying amount. Fair Values 
are those amounts at which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties 
in an arm’s length transaction. 

The carrying amounts of cash, trade and other receivables and trade and other payables are assumed to approximate 
their fair values due to their short-term nature. 

The Group classified the fair value of its other financial instruments according to the following fair value hierarchy 
based on the amount of observable inputs used to value the instruments: 

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are: 
• Level 1- Values based on unadjusted quoted prices available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities as

of the reporting date.
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• Level 2 - Values based on inputs, including quoted prices, time value and volatility factors, which can be
substantially observed or corroborated in the marketplace. Prices in Level 2 are either directly or indirectly
observable as of the reporting date.

• Level 3 - Values based on prices or valuation techniques that are not based on observable market data.

Financial assets measured at fair value Level in Fair 
Value 

hierarchy 
Consolidated 

2022 2021 
$ $ 

Financial assets at FVOCI 3 15,096,142 15,096,142 

15,096,142 15,096,142 

Financial assets at FVOCI 
Financial assets at FVOCI comprise the Group’s investment in private US based, lithium-ion battery technology group, 
Charge CCCV LLC (‘C4V’) which is accounted for as a financial asset measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income. The investment is not quoted in an active market and accordingly the fair value of this investment 
is included within Level 3 of the hierarchy. 

C4V has expertise and patented technology in lithium-ion battery composition and manufacture. C4V has executed 
binding agreements to receive royalty income from the exclusive use of both its patented anode chemistry and its cobalt 
and nickel free cathode chemistry. C4V also retains the right to receive a once off reservation fee upon the granting of 
exclusive use of its patented IP at each of the approved iM3 battery plants. 

The royalty income is dependent upon the successful development of three key projects which involves either the mining 
and processing of natural flake graphite or the production of lithium-ion batteries.  

As at year end, C4V has a direct holding of 31.0% (2021:31.00%) in iM3NY LLC, being the holding company of 
Imperium3 New York Inc. (‘iM3NY Inc’), which owns battery plant assets located in a planned lithium-ion battery 
manufacturing facility based at the Huron Campus in Endicott, New York. As such, C4V has a 31.19% (2021:32.61%) 
total indirect strategic interest in the New York lithium-ion battery production plant via iM3NY LLC. 

Valuation Techniques- Level 3 

The Group has utilised a combination of the discounted cash flow (DCF) method together with the fair value of C4V’s 
strategic investment in iM3NY to calculate the enterprise value of C4V. The DCF involves the projection of a series of 
cash flows and to this an appropriate market derived discount rate is applied to establish the present value of the income 
stream.  

The fair value of C4V’s investment in iM3NY has been determined by first obtaining an independent valuation of the 
plant equipment purchased in 2018. The valuation of plant equipment was undertaken in August 2019 by engineering 
firm O’Brien & Gere assessed all the items purchased. At that time the external valuer attributed the status and condition 
at a valuation of US$71.34Million. In October 2019, the Group had an independent valuation undertaken by global 
engineering, architecture and consultancy company Ramboll Energy which confirmed that the iM3NY plant and 
equipment was valued at US$71,340,620.  

On 19 April 2021 Magnis announced that the iM3NY project is fully funded to 1.8GWh of annual production. Riverstone 
Credit Partners, L.P. confirmed after carrying out its due diligence that iM3NY has US$230Million ($334Million) of 
manufacturing assets in place, of which C4V has a total indirect strategic interest via iM3NY LLC that is equivalent to 
US$72Million ($104Million). When the Riverstone Facility was paid out in April 2022, through the financing in collaboration 
with Atlas and Aon the value of the manufacturing assets in place had increased sufficient for those entities to agree to a 
funding package valued at US$100M 

The Group decides its valuation policies and procedures in line with its business objectives and with reference to the 
Group’s assessment of its investment in individual projects. Position papers are prepared to apprise the audit and risk 
committee of the valuation techniques adopted. The Group normally reviews the valuation of its financial assets at 
FVOCI at least once every six months, in line with the group’s half-yearly and yearly reporting requirements. Changes 
in level 3 fair values are analysed at the end of each reporting period during this review. 
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Quantitative information on significant unobservable inputs - Level 3 

The following table summarises the quantitative information about the significant unobservable inputs used in the fair 
value measurement of the Group’s investment in C4V.  

Unobservable 
inputs 

Valuation 
Method 
(format) 

Nachu 
Graphite 
Project 

Imperium3 
Townsville 

Imperium
3 New 

York 

Relationship of 
Unobservable input to fair 
value 

Project Status DCF Feasibility 
Study) 

Feasibility 
Study 

n/a The more advanced the 
project the higher the fair 
value 

Timeline to 
production 

DCF 2 years post 
finance 

2 years post 
finance 

n/a The longer the time to 
production the lower the fair 
value 

Project life DCF 20yrs 20yrs n/a The longer the lifespan the 
higher the fair value 

Risk adjusted 
discount rate 

DCF 20% 45% n/a The higher the discount rate 
the lower the fair value 

Capital 
required 

DCF $391.8M 
(US$270M) 

$3 Billion n/a The higher the capital 
required the lower the fair 
value  

Expected 
annual 
volumes 

DCF 240,000 
tonne p.a. 

18GWh n/a The higher the annual 
volumes the higher the fair 
value 

Valuation of 
battery 
manufacturing 
equipment 

FV n/a n/a $334M 
(US$230M) 

The lower the recoverable 
amount of the equipment the 
lower the fair value 

Project and Investment Risk 

The fair value of the Group’s investment in C4V is measured against the enterprise value of C4V which is calculated 
using fair value incorporating present value techniques. The present value calculations use cash flows that are estimates 
rather than known amounts. There is inherent uncertainty in this valuation technique. In addition, C4V also holds patents, 
and their management of those patents, ongoing and active research that results in new patents or their economic 
success is uncertain. In addition, claims against these patents and the cost of defending claims is likewise uncertain but 
does represent a real risk. As a result, the fair value is exposed to various forms of risk. The fair value as at reporting 
date is measured using a number of significant unobservable inputs. Risks specific to these unobservable inputs are 
detailed below and have been factored into the individual projects through the risk adjusted discount rate applied. The 
Group has performed detailed risk analysis using international frameworks on each of the individual projects during 
feasibility study. In performing this analysis, the Group is committed to supporting the Audit and Risk Committee to 
develop risk management and mitigation strategies for implement so it can reduce its exposure.  

Project status 

The status of the projects has been determined as being preliminary. The projects are also characterised as being 
greenfield projects which relates to the lack of existing facility to verify outcomes. There is a risk that the projects will not 
be advanced due to the significant capital required to commence construction. There is also a risk that legislative 
approvals required to commence construction may be delayed or not granted. Project status is aligned to the timeline to 
production. Any slippage in timeline milestone will reduce the fair value. Detailed implementation plans have been 
established for each of the individual projects. The implementation plan identifies areas that are critical to the successful 
advancement of the projects. Strategies to mitigate and manage risk associated with project success have been 
documented in detail for implementation. This includes pre-finance testing and market development work. Establishment 
of strategic partnerships with credible industry professionals such as engineering, procurement and construction 
contractors, original equipment manufacturers, and financing professionals is also considered critical in reducing the 
risk of greenfield operations.  
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Timeline to production 

Scheduling for the projects has not factored significant delays or cost overruns. Factors which could create significant 
delays include adverse weather conditions, construction risks particularly in-ground risks, the securing of water supply 
for construction and requisite approvals for infrastructure upgrades. There is a risk that such delays or cost overruns will 
impact the payback capability of the project and reduce the overall cashflows. An increase to the timeline to production 
will result in a lower fair value. 

Capital required 

The estimated total construction costs of the 18GWh factory in Townsville is $3Bn. Project development has been phased 
into 3 stages of 6GWh to reduce the upfront capital requirement. Stage One construction costs are estimated to be $1.12Bn. 
Without a demonstrated ability in capital raising of this quantum, there is a risk that the capital required won’t be secured or 
will be significantly delayed. There is also risk that battery cell offtake agreements will not be secured for each of the three 
stages or that the price will be less than estimated. This could impact the project’s ability to repay project finance and result 
in a lower fair value. To mitigate these risks, iM3TSV will appoint a financing professional in the capacity of advisor to jointly 
develop the Project funding strategy as part of this feasibility study. In the role of financial advisor, the financing professional 
will bring extensive experience on seeking funding for large projects in the renewables sector including working alongside 
government bodies, to advise projects in North Queensland. iM3TSV will also implement a testing and market development 
program involving battery production testing in a commercial setting at equipment vendor facilities. Generated product will 
be provided for customer evaluation and qualification towards procuring offtake contracts. This program will take place prior 
to securing the construction costs for Stage One. Securing offtake following confirmation of product specification will assist 
is securing project funding. The total construction of the Nachu Graphite Project is estimated to cost $391.8M (US$270M), 
however a smaller planned mine would reduce these projections. This is also considered a significant amount of capital 
which can attract sovereign risk when developing a graphite mine in Tanzania. There is a risk that the capital required is 
not secured or that the funding will be on less favourable terms. The Group has identified target funding partners with 
experience in Tanzania, who have in-depth appreciation and understanding of developing a large-scale resource project in 
a jurisdiction with high sovereign risk. 

Expected annual production 

Project development of iM3TSV has been phased into three stages of 6GWh each. The benefit of a staged approach is 
to reduce the upfront capital requirement but also to allow for the project expansion to occur in line with market 
development. However, there is a risk that capital for the second or third stage may not be secured or that changes in 
global competition and technological advancement over construction as well as the first stage may impact the viability 
of expansion. There is also a risk that the project will achieve lower battery cell production yields than forecast. To 
mitigate these risks an extensive product development and testing program will be undertaken by iM3TSV prior to 
securing Stage One funding. Such testing programs once fully implemented can be utilised to train employees prior to 
construction and commissioning to ensure an inexperienced workforce does not ramp up staff beyond stage 1. The 
Nachu Graphite Project has been reported as the largest mineral resource of large flake graphite in the world. There is 
a risk, at a production rate of 240,000tpa, that supply may outstrip demand resulting in an unsustainable production rate. 
The project is also subject to significant sovereign risk arising from changes in legislation, government, environmental 
permits, employment, disease, and community relations, all of which could impact the annual production. A reduction in 
the expected annual production would reduce the fair value. The Nachu Graphite Project is however capable of being 
phased into two stages of production. The staged approach allows the project risks and the Group’s response to be 
tested at a reduced scale for a reduction in required capital outlay. 

Royalties and reservation fee 

C4V has executed binding agreements to receive royalty income from the exclusive use of both its anode processing 
technology and its patented cobalt and nickel free cathode chemistry. C4V also retains the right to receive a once off 
reservation fee upon the granting of exclusive use of its patented IP at each of the approved iM3 battery plants. The 
royalty income is dependent upon the successful development of three key projects which involves either mining and 
processing of natural flake graphite or the production of lithium-ion batteries. There is a risk that C4V will not receive the 
estimated reservation fee or royalty income if the Group is unsuccessful in securing the required capital to commence 
construction of the individual projects. There is also a risk that the annual royalty income derived from the individual 
projects will be less than estimated due to delays in production timelines or reduction in the expected annual production. 
Any reduction in annual royalty income or reservation fee income will lower the fair value. The contracts between C4V 
and Magnis and iM3 contain commercially sensitive information and as such cannot be disclosed in the financial report 
as it would likely be prejudicial to Magnis. The contracted royalty and reservation fees have been used by the Group in 
determining the fair value of C4V. 
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Recoverable amount - C4V’s investment in iM3NY 

Realising the recoverable amount of C4V’s investment in iM3NY is dependent on proceeds of sale equalling the 
estimated US$230Million ($334Million) of manufacturing assets in place, of which C4V has a total indirect strategic 
interest via iM3NY LLC equivalent to US$72Million ($104Million). There is a risk that there may be significant 
advancements in state-of-the-art equipment render current equipment obsolete, or buyers are then increasingly difficult 
to identify. The valuation of the battery manufacturing equipment does not factor in the cost of relocating the equipment 
from iM3NY to the buyer(s). If iM3NY was unsuccessful in assigning these costs to the buyer, the fair value would be 
reduced. 

Interest rate risk 

The main interest rate risk arises from expected long-term borrowings to fund the construction costs. Borrowings 
obtained at variable rates give rise to interest rate risk. Borrowings obtained at fixed rates expose the consolidated entity 
to fair value risk. There is also a risk that the greenfield status of the project could attract interest rates with embedded 
risk premiums. iM3TSV has endeavoured to mitigate these risks by targeting an advantageous mix of achievable funding 
sources and ‘sticky’ partners to reduce the amount of funding exposed to interest rate risk. This includes sourcing equity 
partners and government grants to reduce the quantum of project financing required. The Group is targeting potential 
funding partners for the Nachu Graphite Project who have an in-depth knowledge and experience in Tanzania to reduce 
the probability of significant risk premiums being added to interest rates. Targeting funding via engineering, construction, 
and procurement contractors who have a vested interest in the success of the project is one strategy that the Group 
believes will mitigate the risk of attracting finance with substantial risk premium embedded in the interest rate.  

Currency rate risk 

The individual projects undertake certain transactions denominated in foreign currency and is exposed to foreign 
currency risk through foreign exchange rate fluctuations. A significant portion of the Stage One construction costs for 
iM3TSV relate to equipment purchases payable in United States Dollars. Foreign exchange risk arises from future 
commercial transactions and recognised financial assets and financial liabilities denominated in a currency that is not 
the entity's daily currency. Adverse foreign currency fluctuation can add significant additional costs to the estimated 
construction costs of the project. The Nachu project is exposed to currency fluctuations between the United States Dollar 
(USD, US$) and the Tanzanian Shillings (TzS). Where possible, the Group mitigates this risk by executing supply 
agreements in USD, however local content requirements limit the extent to which this strategy can be implemented. In 
order to protect against exchange rate movements, the Audit and Risk Committee may consider entering into simple 
forward foreign exchange contracts. 

Risk adjusted discount rate 

The above risks have been factored into the risk adjusted discount rate. Any favourable mitigation of the risks outlined 
above would result in a decrease in the discount rate and an increase in the fair value. 

Sensitivity analysis 

In accordance with the Group policy of reviewing this risk, the following sensitivity analysis based on an increase or 
decrease of the risk adjusted discount rate varies and other variables remain constant, the fair value of the investment 
would have been affected as shown:  

Description Unobservable inputs Sensitivity 

Financial asset at 
FVOCI 

Project life A one-year change would increase/ (decrease) fair 
value by AU$0.065M / (AU$0.081M) 

Risk adjusted discount rate 5% change would increase/ (decrease) fair value by 
AU$4.15M / (AU$2.722M) 

Expected annual volumes 5% change would increase/ (decrease) fair value by 
AU$0.818M / (AU$0.818M) 

Valuation of battery 
manufacturing equipment 

5% change would increase/ (decrease) fair value by 
AU$4.754M / (AU$4.754M) 
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Investment accounted for using the equity method - Magnis investment in iM3NY via iM3NY LLC 

Investment accounted for using the equity method comprises the Group’s investment in its majority owned New York 
lithium-ion battery production plant, Imperium3 New York Inc (‘iM3NY Inc’). The investment which is accounted for using 
the equity method is measured at cost and the carrying value of the investment is subsequently adjusted for the Group’s 
interest in the associates profit or loss. The investment is not quoted in an active market and accordingly the fair value 
of this investment is included within Level 3 of the hierarchy. 

Valuation Techniques - Level 3 

As at year end, the Company has a direct holding of 62.0% of its Common Stock units (2021:62.00%) in iM3NY LLC 
(LLC), being the holding company of Imperium3 New York Inc. (‘iM3NY Inc’), which owns battery plant assets located 
in a lithium-ion battery manufacturing facility based at the Huron Campus in Endicott, New York. As such, the Company 
has a 61.42% (2021:59.88%) total indirect interest in the New York lithium-ion battery production plant via LLC. The 
table below provides the total direct and indirect strategic interests of all investors in LLC and iM3NY Inc, as at 30 June 
2022:  

Direct 
Share 

Ownership 
in iM3NY 

LLC 
2022 

Direct 
Share 

Ownership 
in iM3NY 

Inc 
2022 

Indirect 
Ownership 
in iM3NY 

Inc 
2022 

Direct 
 Share 

Ownership 
in iM3NY 

LLC 
2021 

Direct 
 Share 

Ownership 
in iM3NY 

Inc 
2021 

Indirect 
Ownership 
in iM3NY 

Inc 
2021 

Magnis 62.00% n\a 61.42% 62.00% n\a 59.88% 
C4V 31.00% n\a 31.19% 31.00% n\a 32.61% 
Primet 5.00% n\a 0.51% 5.00% n\a 0.53% 
C&D 2.00% n\a 0.64% 2.00% n\a 0.67% 
Atlas n\a n\a 0.48% n\a n\a 0.50% 
Total iM3NY LLC 100.00% 95.50% 94.24% 100.00% 95.50% 94.19% 

Riverstone Group n\a 3.86% 5.12% n\a 3.86% 5.17% 
Prisma Pelican Fund n\a 0.32% 0.32% n\a 0.32% 0.32% 
HSBC Bank n\a 0.32% 0.32% n\a 0.32% 0.32% 
Total Riverstone, HSBC + Prisma n\a 4.50% 5.76% n\a 4.50% 5.81% 

Total iM3NY Inc. 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 

The Group has determined the fair value of its strategic investment in iM3NY by first obtaining a third-party valuation of the 
recoverable amount of the battery plant equipment purchased in 2018. The valuation of plant equipment was undertaken 
in August 2019 by engineering firm O’Brien & Gere who assessed all the items purchased. At that time the external valuer 
attributed the current status and condition at a valuation of US$71.34Million. In October 2019, the Group had an 
independent valuation undertaken by global engineering, architecture and consultancy company Ramboll Energy which 
confirmed that the iM3NY plant and equipment was valued at US$71,340,620.  

On 19 April 2021 Magnis announced that the iM3NY project is fully funded to 1.8GWh of annual production. Riverstone 
Credit Partners, L.P. confirmed after carrying out its due diligence that iM3NY has US$230Million ($334Million) of 
manufacturing assets in place, of which Magnis has a total indirect interest equivalent to US$141Million ($205Million). 

17. RESERVES
a) Reserves

Consolidated 
2022 2021 

$ $ 
(Restated) 

Foreign currency translation 9,860,658 7,242,681 
Share based payment 2,910,493 46,313 
FVOCI Reserve 5,076,057 5,076,057 

17,847,208 12,365,051 
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b) Nature and purpose of reserves
i. Foreign currency translation reserve

Exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign controlled entity are taken to the foreign currency
translation reserve, as described in Note 1. The reserve is recognised in profit or loss when the net investment
is disposed of.

ii. Share based payment reserve
The share-based payment reserve is used to recognise the fair value of paid options issued to Directors,
employees, and contractors.

iii. FVOCI reserve
The FVOCI Reserve is used to recognise any impairment on assets and liabilities using the fair value of
measurement, thereby ensuring fair values are equivalent to their respective net carrying value.

18. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
a) Reconciliation of the net loss after income tax to the net cash flows from operating activities

Operating activities Consolidated 
2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 
(Restated) 

Net loss  (37,663,313) (19,194,721) 
Non cash and non operating items - 
Depreciation of non current assets 13,142 11,365 
Amortisation of borrowing costs 3,336,222 643,389 
Share based payments 1,276,679 46,013 
Share of associates net loss accounted for using the equity method - - 
(Profit)/ Loss on sale of assets (395,121) (242,755) 
Net foreign currency translation gain (loss) (552,497) 7,112,967 
Accrued interest - - 
Changes in assets and liabilities - 
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (11,192,154) (2,146,105) 
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments 16,051 146,827 
(Increase)/decrease in security bonds (13,099) - 
(Increase)/decrease in exploration assets - - 
(Increase) in development assets (706,765) 127,363 
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables (1,161,298) (4,311,726) 
Increase/(decrease) in provisions (90,234) (352,636) 
Net cash outflow from operating activities (47,106,189) (18,160,019) 

b) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank and in hand 100,238,244 72,894,945 

100,238,244 72,894,945 
19. COMMITMENTS
a) Exploration commitments

The Group has certain commitments to meet minimum expenditure requirements on the mineral exploration
assets in which it has an interest. Note 1 outlines the Group’s future funding options to meet its commitments.

Outstanding exploration commitments are as follows: Consolidated 
2022 2021 

$ $ 
Not later than one year 89,817 82,460 

89,817 82,460 

Exploration expenditure commitments beyond twelve months could not be reliably determined because the annual 
commitment was set at the anniversary date for each tenement. 
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20. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS
There are no contingent liabilities or assets at 30 June 2022. 
The Group has guarantees for property leases and banking finance facilities of $150,977 (2021: $150,977). 

21. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD
On 25 July 2022, Magnis announced it had issued 3,846,154 Ordinary Fully Paid shares at 26 cents for a total of $1,000,000 
to US-based institution SBC Global Investment Fund, under the terms of the Convertible Note (‘Facility’) agreement, 
announced to the ASX on 3 August 2021 and approved by shareholders at the 2021 AGM. The Facility has been used to 
assist the Company with its aggressive growth plans to fast-track Gigawatt scale production at the Lithium-ion Battery Plant 
located in Endicott, New York as well as for general working capital, including to advance early works with the Nachu 
Graphite Project, along with any support required towards the Townsville Battery Plant. 

On 1 August 2022, Mr David Taylor commenced his newly appointed role as Chief Executive Officer, after a 6-month global 
search managed by executive search firm Korn Ferry. 

On 4 August 2022, the Company announced that Magnis Option Share Trust (‘MOST’) was issued with 1,000,000 unlisted 
options for employees, at $0.63 exercise price, with a 3-year expiry period from their 1 August 2022 issue date. 

On 12 August 2022, the Company announced that commercial production has commenced at the iM3NY New York Lithium-
ion Battery Plant based in Endicott, New York  

22. AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
The auditor of Magnis Energy Technologies Ltd in the current year is Hall Chadwick Melbourne Audit. 

(a) Amounts received or due and receivable by Magnis Group Auditor (Australia) for:
Consolidated 
2022 2021 

$ $ 
An audit or review of the financial report of the entity and consolidated Group 64,092 79,973 
Other services in relation of the entity and any other entity in the consolidated Group: 

• Taxation services 144,528 48,247 
• Corporate services 76,550 2,948 

285,170 131,168 

(b) Amounts received or due and receivable by related practices of Magnis Group Auditor (Australia) for:
Consolidated 
2022 2021 

$ $ 
An audit or review of the financial report of the entity and consolidated Group - - 
Other services in relation of the entity and any other entity in the consolidated Group: 

• Taxation services - - 
- - 

23. LOSS PER SHARE

(a) Reconciliation of earnings to profit or loss:

Consolidated 
2022 2021 

$ $ 
(Restated) 

Net loss - Loss used in calculating basic loss per share 61,697,819 12,032,230 
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Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year used in calculating basic loss per 
share: 

Shares Shares 
2022 2021 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic loss per share 966,485,329 851,434,546 

Basic loss per share (cents per share) (6.38) (1.41) 

Accounting policies 
Basic EPS is calculated as the profit / (loss) attributable to equity holders of the Company, excluding any costs of 
servicing equity other than ordinary shares, divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the financial year, adjusted for any bonus elements in ordinary shares during the year. 

(b) Effect of dilutive securities
For the year ended 30 June 2022 and for the comparative period there are no dilutive ordinary shares because 
conversion of share options and performance rights would decrease the loss per share and hence be non-dilutive. 

Diluted loss per share (cents per share) (6.38) (1.41) 

Accounting policies 
Diluted EPS adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic EPS to consider after income tax effect of interest 
and other financing costs associated with dilutive ordinary shares and the weighted average number of shares assumed 
to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

24. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
(a) Compensation

The aggregate compensation made to directors and other members of key management personnel of the consolidated 
entity is set out below: 

Consolidated 
2022 2021 

$ $ 
Short-term employee benefits 1,437,175 1,039,592 
Termination benefits - 143,000
Post-employment benefits 78,337 77,639
Share-based payments 965,180 - 

2,480,692 1,260,231 

(b) Outstanding balances arises from purchases of goods and services at the reporting date in relation to
other transactions with key management personnel.

Consolidated 
Assets and liabilities 2022 2021 

$ $ 
Trade and other payables 29,355 68,100 
Current Liabilities 29,355 68,100 
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(c) Other transactions and balances with key management personnel and their related parties

Aggregate Amount 

Identity of Related 
Party Nature of Relationship 

Terms and 
Conditions 

Type of 
Transaction 2022 2021 

Strong Solutions Pty Ltd 

Frank Poullas is a related party 
of Strong Solutions Pty Ltd and 
Executive Chairman of Magnis 
Energy Technologies Ltd 

Normal 
commercial 
terms Consulting fees 215,600 208,000 

and 
IT Services 133,900 92,970 

Peter Tsegas 

Peter Tsegas is a Non-
executive Director of Magnis 
Energy Technologies Ltd 

Normal 
commercial 
terms Consulting fees 1,914 273,389 

Global Impact Initiative 
Pty Ltd 

Giles Gunesekera is a related 
party of Global Impact Initiative 
Pty Ltd and Non-executive 
Director of Magnis Energy 
Technologies Ltd 

Normal 
commercial 
terms Consulting Fees 11,550 - 

Yatha Enterprises LLC 

Hoshi Daruwalla is a related 
party of Yatha Enterprises LLC 
and Non-executive Director of 
Magnis Energy Technologies 
Ltd 

Normal 
commercial 
terms Consulting Fees 34,476 - 

Hon. Troy Grant  
(Resigned 23 Feb. 2021) 

Hon. Troy Grant was a Non-
executive Director of Magnis 
Energy Technologies Ltd 

Normal 
commercial 
terms Consulting Fees - 50,000

397,440 624,359 

25. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
Parent entity 
Magnis Energy Technologies Ltd is the ultimate Australian parent entity of the consolidated entity. 
Its interests in controlled entities are set out in Note 27. 

Wholly owned group transactions 
Controlled entities made payments and received funds on behalf of Magnis Energy Technologies Ltd and other 
controlled entities by way of inter-company loan accounts with each controlled entity. These loans are unsecured, bear 
no interest and are repayable on demand. However, demand for repayment is not expected in the next twelve months. 
Transactions and balances between the Company and its controlled entities were eliminated in the preparation and 
consolidation of the financial statements of the group. 

Key management personnel 
Details relating to key management personnel, including remuneration paid, are included in Note 24 and the 
Remuneration Report in the Directors’ Report. 

Transactions with related parties 
All amounts payable to related parties are unsecured and at no interest cost. The amount outstanding will be settled in 
cash. No guarantees have been given or received. No expense has been recognised in the period for bad or doubtful 
debts in respect of the amounts owed by related parties. 

Entity with significant influence over the Group 
MAZZDEL PTY LTD controls 5.40% (2021:6.64%) of the OFP shares in Magnis Energy Technologies Ltd. 
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26. PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION
Set out below is the supplementary information about the parent entity. 

Parent 
2022 2021 

Statement of profit or (loss) and other comprehensive 
income $ $ 

Profit or (Loss) after income tax (13,424,544) (8,889,419) 

Total comprehensive income (13,424,544) (8,889,419) 

Statement of financial position 

Total current assets 20,016,515 3,926,870 

Total assets 89,874,398 56,352,702 

Total current liabilities 2,363,544 336,867 

Total liabilities 2,410,163 565,302 

Total Net assets 87,464,235 55,787,399 

Equity 

Issued capital 209,970,061 167,732,859 

Equity settled employee benefits reserve 2,910,492 3,883,456 

Equity FVOCI reserve 5,076,057 5,076,057 

Retained profits (130,492,376) (120,904,973) 

Total Equity 87,464,235 55,787,399 

Contingent liabilities 

Other than funding arising from a letter of support provided by the company to iM3NY, the parent entity had no contingent 
liabilities as at 30 June 2022. (2021:Nil). 

Capital commitments – Plant and equipment 
The parent entity had no capital commitments for plant and equipment at as 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2021. 

Remuneration commitments 
The parent entity has a remuneration commitment of $166,337 as at 30 June 2022 (2021:$83,042). 
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27. INTERESTS IN CONTROLLED ENTITIES
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities, and results of the following subsidiaries in 
accordance with the accounting policy described in Note 1: 

Equity Holding 1 

Name 
 Country of 
incorporation Ownership 

 Class of 
shares 2022  2021 

Uranex (Tanzania) Ltd  Tanzania  Direct  Ordinary 100.00% 100.00% 
Magnis Technologies (Tanzania) Limited  Tanzania  Direct  Ordinary 100.00% 100.00% 
Uranex Mozambique Limitada  Mozambique  Direct  Ordinary 100.00% 100.00% 
Uranex ESIP Pty Ltd  Australia  Direct  Ordinary 100.00% 100.00% 
iM3NY LLC 2  USA  Direct  Common 62.00% 62.00% 
Imperium3 New York Inc. 3  USA  Indirect  Common 61.42% 59.88% 

1    percentage of voting power is in proportion to ownership (direct and indirect). 
2  iM3NY LLC was incorporated for consolidation purposes on 16 April 2021. The remaining 38% has been attributed to non-controlling interests. 
3  Imperium3 New York Inc. was incorporated for consolidation purposes on 29 June 2020 of which 95.5% is owned directly by iM3NY LLC 

(2021:95.5%) while 4.5% has been attributed to non-controlling interests. As at year end the company has a total indirect interest in Imperium3 
New York Inc. of approx. 61% via iM3NY LLC. 

Accounting policies  
Principles of consolidation 

The consolidation financial statements are those of the consolidated entity, comprising Magnis Energy Technologies Ltd 
[the parent entity], special purpose entities and all entities which Magnis Energy Technologies Ltd controlled from time 
to time during the year and at reporting date. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable 
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through ties power over the 
investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has: 
• power over the investee [i.e. existing rights that give it the ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee];
• exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and
• the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant 
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including: 
• the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee.
• rights arising from other contractual arrangements.
• the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes 
to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control 
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group losses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income, and expenses 
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the statement of comprehensive income from the 
date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary. Profit or loss and each component 
of other comprehensive income ‘OCI’ are attributed to the equity holders of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary, 
adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the 
Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses, and cash flows relating to 
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.  

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. If 
the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it: 
• de-recognises the assets [including goodwill] and liabilities of the subsidiary
• de-recognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests
• de-recognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity
• recognises the fair value of the consideration received
• recognises the fair value of any investment retained
• recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss
• reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognised in OCI to profit or loss or retained earnings, as

appropriate, as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities
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At 29 June 2020 Magnis acquired additional shares in Imperium 3 New York Inc. (iM3NY) to become a majority 
shareholder. The direct ownership in iM3NY has been accounted for as an asset acquisition and not a business 
combination, due to factors which include the equipment assets had been relocated from a previous owner’s facility and 
at the time of the transaction were still in the process of being recommissioned ahead of the commencement of 
production.  

From late March 2021 to April 2021, iM3NY undertook a restructuring where iM3NY LLC was created as the new holding 
company of iM3NY, as a result of the binding Riverstone Credit Partners, L.P. funding agreement. As part of the 
syndicated funding package, new investors were introduced in iM3NY, while existing iM3NY investors were migrated 
into the newly created iM3NY LLC. This restructuring effectively placed investors like Magnis and C4V who previously 
held shares directly in iM3NY, to now become investors with an indirect exposure to iM3NY, through their direct holding 
in iM3NY LLC.  

In July 2021 Magnis provided further funding for the iM3NY lithium-ion battery project by increasing its investment in 
iM3NY LLC’s Series A preference shares while maintaining its holding of common shares.  

As at year end the company maintains its controlling ownership of 62% in iM3NY LLC, while the holding company 
maintains its controlling ownership of 95.5% in iM3NY. 

Business Combinations 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, regardless of whether equity 
instruments or other assets are acquired.  

The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the: 
• fair values of the assets transferred
• liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business
• equity interests issued by the group
• fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, and
• fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with limited 
exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.  

The group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at 
fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net identifiable assets. 

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 

The excess of the 
• consideration transferred,
• amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity, and
• acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair 
value of the net identifiable assets of the business acquired, the difference is recognised directly in profit or loss as a 
bargain purchase. 

Where an acquisition does not meet the definition of a business in AASB 3 Business Combinations, the transaction is 
accounted for as an asset acquisition. Acquired assets are measured at their proportionate share of the transaction 
consideration, and no goodwill or bargain purchase is recognised. 

Dividends are recorded as a component of other revenues in the separate income statement of the parent entity, and 
do not impact the recorded cost of the investment. Upon receipt of dividend payments from subsidiaries, the parent will 
assess whether any indicators or impairment of the carrying value of the investment in the subsidiary exist.  

Where such indicators exist, to the extent that the carrying value of the investment exceeds its recoverable amount, an 
impairment loss is recognised. 
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28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT PLANS
(a) Recognised share-based payment expenses

The expense recognised for employees and non-employees received during the year is shown below:
Consolidated 

2022 2021 
$ $ 

Expense arising from the issue of MOST options (employees)  129,700 5,963 
Expense arising from the issue of MOST options (non-employee)  - - 

Expense arising from the issue of DIRECT options (employees)  846,600 - 

Expense arising from the issue of DIRECT options (non-employee)  1,899,000 - 

Expense arising from the issue of MERT rights (employees)  (11,120) 40,050 
Total expense arising from equity-settled payment transactions 2,864,180 46,013 

(b) Types of share-based payment plans:
OPTION SHARE PLAN: MOST - (‘EMPLOYEES’)
Magnis Energy Technologies Ltd operates an ownership-based scheme for Directors, Key Management
Personnel (KMP) employees and other employees of the consolidated entity.

The Magnis Option Share Trust (‘MOST’) is designed to align participants’ interests with those of shareholders
by increasing the value of the Company’s shares. In accordance with the provisions of the Plan, listed Ordinary
Fully Paid shares and unlisted options are held on behalf of Plan Participants by the Trustee of the MOST.

Under the MOST, the exercise price of the options is set by the Board on the date of grant. The life of options to
participants granted are for 3 years, but these must be exercised within 3 months of the option holder ceasing
employment with Magnis Energy Technologies Ltd. There are no cash settlement alternatives.

RIGHTS PLAN: MERT - (‘EMPLOYEES’)
Magnis Energy Technologies Ltd operates an ownership-based scheme for Directors and Employees of the
consolidated entity.

In accordance with the provisions of the Plan, unlisted performance share rights are held on behalf of Plan
Participants by the Trustee of the Magnis Executive Rights Trust (‘MERT’).

Under MERT, the Executive Rights are divided into five tranches and conversion of each tranche is dependent
on satisfaction of performance milestones and service conditions applicable to each tranche, including the relevant
person being a director at the time the respective performance milestone tranche is satisfied.

Although no specific expiry date exists for each tranche, it has been accepted under AASB2 that the life of
Executive Rights granted to participants are for 10 years, but they will immediately lapse when the Executive
Rights holder ceases employment with Magnis Energy Technologies Ltd. There are no cash settlement
alternatives.

(c) Share-based payment plans for non-employee (‘Consultant option’):
Share options are granted to selected non-employees from time to time in consideration for the services of the
consultant as a share-based incentive (‘Consultant options’). Prior Shareholder approval of the issue of Consultant
options is required.

Each Consultant Option is granted for nil consideration for services provided by unrelated parties to the Company,
the terms are subject to the same terms of the Company’s existing unlisted options.

No funds are raised from the issue of the Consultant Options, as they are issued to the consultant in consideration
for assistance with the Company’s progress and success. There are no cash settlement alternatives
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(d) Summary of options and rights granted under share-based payment
Options granted under share-based payment
The following table illustrates the number (No.) and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of, and movements
in, MOST share options issued during the year.

2022 
No. 

2022 
WAEP 

2021 
No. 

2021 
WAEP 

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 3,750,000 0.69 10,000,000 0.58 
Granted during the year 7,375,000 0.72 750,000 0.63 
Exercised during the year - - - - 
(Expired \ Lapsed) during the year (1,000,000) (0.70) (7,000,000) (0.54) 
Outstanding at the end of the year 10,125,000 0.72 3,750,000 0.69 

Exercisable at the end of the year 10,125,000 0.72 3,750,000 0.69 

The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at the end of the year was between $0.40 and $0.80 (2021: 
$0.50 and $0.75). 

Rights granted under share-based payment 
The below table shows the number of, and movements in, MERT performance share rights issued during the 
year. 

2022 
No. 

2022 
WAEP 

2021 
No. 

2021 
WAEP 

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 7,500,000 - - - 
Granted during the year - - 12,500,000 - 
Exercised during the year (1,500,000) - - - 
Lapsed during the year (2,000,000) - (5,000,000) - 
Outstanding at the end of the year 4,000,000 - 7,500,000 - 

Exercisable at the end of the year 4,000,000 - 7,500,000 - 

During 2022, 1,500,000 OFP shares (2021: NIL) were issued as a result of converting performance rights. 

(e) Weighted average remaining estimated life
The weighted average remaining estimated life outstanding as at 30 June 2021 is :

• Share options - MOST: 1.22 years (2021:1.54 years) 
• Share options - Direct: 2.41 years (2021: Nil) 
• Share rights - MERT: 9.00 years (2021:9.42 years) 

(f) Weighted average fair value
The weighted average fair value granted during the year to 30 June 2021 is :

• Share options - MOST: $0.09440 (2021: $0.00795) 
• Share options - Direct: $0.14110 (2021: Nil) 
• Share rights - MERT: $0.00923 (2021:0.00534) 

(g) Option pricing model
Equity-settled transactions
The fair value of the equity-settled share options granted under the share-based payment is estimated as at the
date of grant using a Binomial Model, considering the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted.
The following table lists the inputs to the models used for the year ended 30 June 2022:

Dividend yield (%) Nil 
Expected volatility (%) 54 - 57 
Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.032 - 0.938 
Expected life of option (years) 2.0 - 3.0 
Option exercise price (cents) 40 - 80 
Weighted average share price at measurement dates (cents) 26.5 - 73.0 
Exercise price multiple 2 
Model used Binomial 
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The effects of early exercise have been incorporated into calculations by using an expected life for the option that 
is shorter than the estimated life based on historical exercise behaviour, which is not necessarily indicative of 
exercise patterns that may occur in the future.  

The expected volatility was determined using a historical sample of Company share-prices. The resulting 
expected volatility therefore reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends which 
may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.  

The option holders were assumed to exercise prior to expiry date when the price is twice that of the exercise price. 
This reflects the restrictions to trading of directors and employees outlined in the Company’s share trading policy. 

During the financial year, the Magnis Option Share Trust (‘MOST’) scheme acquired and was issued with 
7,375,000 (2021:750,000) options on varying terms and conditions for allotment to Directors and employees. 

Accounting policies 
The Group provides benefits to employees [including directors] of, and consultants to, the Group in the form of 
share-based payment transactions, whereby services are rendered in exchange for shares or rights over shares 
[‘equity-settled transactions’]. 

The cost of equity-settled transactions is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are 
granted. The fair value of options and performance rights with market-based performance criteria is determined 
by an external valuer using a binomial option pricing model. The fair value of performance plan rights with non-
market performance criteria is determined by reference to the Company’s share price at date of grant.  

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the 
period in which the performance conditions are fulfilled, ending in the date on which the recipient becomes fully 
entitled to the award [‘vesting date’]. 

The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until vesting date 
reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the number of awards that, in the opinion of the 
directors, based on the best available information at reporting date will ultimately vest.  

No adjustment is made for the likelihood of market conditions being met as the effect of these conditions is 
included in determination of fair value at grant date. The charge or credit for the period represents the movement 
in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of the period. Where awards vest immediately, 
the expense is also recognised in profit or loss. 

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional 
upon a market condition. Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum, an expense is 
recognised as if the terms had not been modified. In addition, an expense is recognised for any increase in the 
value of the transaction as a result of the modification, as measured at the date of modification.  

Where the terms of an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation 
and any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is 
substituted for the cancelled award and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the 
cancelled and the new award are treated as if they were a modification of the original award as described in the 
previous paragraph. 

The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of 
earnings per share. 

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s principal financial instruments consist of short-term deposits, receivables, and payables. These
activities expose the Group to a variety of financial risks: market risk, (i.e. interest rate risk and foreign exchange
risks), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The overall objective of the Group’s financial risk management policies is to meet its financial targets whilst
protecting future financial security.
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The Board fulfils its corporate governance and oversight responsibilities by monitoring and reviewing the integrity 
of financial statements, the effectiveness of internal financial control and the policies on risk oversight and 
management. Management is charged with implementing the policies.  
 
The management manages the different types of risks to which the Group is exposed by considering risk and 
monitoring levels of exposure to interest risk and by being aware of market forecasts for interest rates.  
 
Liquidity risk is monitored through general business budgets and forecasts. The Board reviews and agrees on 
policies for managing these risks. 

 
(b) Market Risk 

Foreign currency risk  

The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currency and is exposed to foreign currency 
risk through foreign exchange rate fluctuations. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions 
and recognised financial assets and financial liabilities denominated in a currency that is not the entity's national 
currency. The risk is measured using sensitivity analysis and cash flow forecasting. 
 
The carrying amount of the Group's foreign currency denominated financial assets and financial liabilities at the 
reporting date were as follows: 
   Assets Liabilities 
  2022  2021  2022  2021 

Consolidated    (Restated)    (Restated) 
  USD  USD  USD  USD 
  $  $  $  $ 
         
US dollars  4,793,355  3,933,337  69,703  107,007 

  
The Group had net assets denominated in foreign currencies of US$4,723,652 (assets less liabilities) as at 30 
June 2022 (2021:US$3,826,330).  
 
Based on this exposure, had the Australian dollar weakened or strengthened by 5% against these foreign 
currencies with all other variables held constant, the consolidated entity's loss before tax for the year would 
have been $93,636 higher / $84,719 lower, while the consolidated entity's net assets \ equity would have been 
$36,766 higher / $326,407 lower. The percentage change is the expected overall volatility of the significant 
currencies, which is based on management’s assessment of reasonable possible fluctuations taking into 
consideration movements over the last 6 months each year and the spot rate at each reporting date.  
 
The actual foreign exchange loss for the year ended 30 June 2022 was $19,405 (2021:$12,782)  

 
Interest rate risk  

The Group is exposed to movements in market interest rates on short-term deposits. Management ensures a 
balance is maintained between the liquidity of cash assets and the interest rate return. Presently, the Group has 
no interest-bearing liabilities.  
 
At reporting date, the Group had the following financial assets and liabilities exposed mostly to Australian variable 
interest rates and are unhedged 

 Consolidated 
2022 

Consolidated 
2021 

 $ $ 
   

Cash and cash equivalents 100,238,244 72,894,945 
 

The weighted average interest rate for the Group at reporting date was 0.4850% (2021:0.0470%). 
 
In accordance with the Group policy of reviewing this risk, the following sensitivity analysis based on interest rate 
exposure at reporting date where the interest rate movement varies and other variables remain constant, post tax 
loss and equity would have been affected as shown. The analysis has been performed on the same basis for both 
2022 and 2021. 
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Interest Rate Risk 
-1%

Interest Rate Risk 
+1%

30 June 2022 Carrying 
Amount 

Net Loss 
$

Equity 
$ 

Net Loss 
$

Equity 
$ 

Consolidated Entity 
Financial asset 
Cash and cash 
equivalents 100,238,244 (1,002,382) (1,002,382) 1,002,382 1,002,382 

Interest Rate Risk 
-1%

Interest Rate Risk 
+1%

30 June 2021 Carrying 
Amount 

Net Loss 
$

Equity 
$ 

Net Loss 
$

Equity 
$ 

Consolidated Entity 
Financial asset 
Cash and cash 
equivalents 72,894,945 (728,949) (728,949) 728,949 728,949 

The sensitivity was higher during 2022 than 2021 because of higher cash balances. The analysis assumes the 
carrying amounts noted will be maintained over the next financial year. 

(c) Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss
to the Group. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date to recognised financial assets is the
carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the statement of financial
position and Notes to the financial statements. The Group does not hold any collateral. The Group has adopted
a simplified lifetime expected loss allowance in estimating expected credit losses to trade and other receivables.
The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk at reporting date
is the carrying amount (net of expected credit loss) of those assets as disclosed in the statement of financial
position and Notes to the financial statements.

(d) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises from the financial liabilities of the Group and the Group’s subsequent ability to meet their
obligations to repay their financial liabilities as and when they fall due. The Group’s objective is to maintain a
balance between continuity of funding and flexibility as to its source. The Directors receive cash flow reports
periodically and increase the frequency of review when the safety margin is or is nearly breached. The Board
formulates plans to replenish its cash resources when required and implements cost reduction programmes to
reduce cash expenditure. The table below reflects all contractually fixed pay-offs, repayments, and interest from
recognised financial liabilities. For these obligations the undiscounted cash flows for the respective upcoming
financial years are presented. Cash flows for financial assets and liabilities without fixed timing or amount are
based on the conditions existing at 30 June 2021. The remaining contractual maturities of the Group entity's
financial liabilities consisting of trade and other payables are:

Consolidated 
2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 
On demand - - 
Less than 1 year 3,646,194 3,672,966 
1-5 years - - 
> 5 years - - 

3,646,194 3,672,966 
(e) Net Fair Values

The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities as shown in the statement of financial position approximate
their fair value.

30. GOVERNMENT GRANTS AND ASSISTANCE

JobKeeper Payment and Cashflow boost
No Government grants and assistance was received during the full-year to 30 June 2022 (2021:$120,500
representing $70,500 in JobKeeper payments and $50,000 in Cashflow boost).
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31. ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES
Consolidated 

2022 2021 

Audit Fees 90,681 95,163 
Insurance 96,024 81,997 
Rental expenses 132,510 12,104 
Travel costs 152,071 18,466 
C4V Service Supply Fees 827,259 800,701 
Other expenses 1,627,789 410,184 
Administration expenses 2,926,334  1,418,615 

Audit Fees - iM3NY 156,728 38,892 
Insurance - iM3NY 3,238,892 20,204 
Rental expenses - iM3NY 2,744,663 567,058 
Travel costs - iM3NY 162,738 88,234 
Other expenses - iM3NY 2,744,273 525,699 
Administration expenses - iM3NY 9,047,294 1,240,087 

11,973,628 2,658,702 

32. LEGAL AND CONSULTANCY EXPENSES
Consolidated 

2022 2021 
$ $ 

 Legal 889,211 378,466 

 Consultants 2,860,162 702,772 

 Marketing  276,881 223,287 
 Legal and consulting expenses 4,026,253 1,304,525 

 Legal - iM3NY  337,437 109,106 

 Consultants - iM3NY - - 

 Marketing - iM3NY  215,631  71,042 

 Legal and consulting expenses - iM3NY 553,068 180,148 
4,579,321 1,484,673 

33. BORROWING COSTS AND LOAN AMORTIZATION
Consolidated 

2022 2021 
$ $ 

(Restated) 
Loan Amortization - iM3NY 3,336,221 643,389 
Borrowing Costs - iM3NY # 21,486,071 2,123,345 
Borrowing Costs and Loan Amortization – iM3NY 24,822,292 2,766,734 

# Includes $20,030,045 of loss on extinguishment of debt 



DIRECTORS' DECLARATION 

In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of Magnis Energy Technologies Ltd, I state that: 

1. In the opinion of the Directors:

a) the financial statements and Notes of the consolidated entity are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001,
including:

(i) Giving a true and fair view of its financial position as at 30 June 2022 and performance for the financial year
ended on that date.

(ii) Complying with Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the
Corporations Regulations 2001.

b) The financial statements and Notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed
in Note 1.

c) There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company, as noted by Directors in Note 1 - Going concern,
will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

2. This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the Directors in
accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial year ended 30 June 2022.

On behalf of the board 

F Poullas 
Executive Chairman 

Sydney, 29 September 2022 
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 MAGNIS ENERGY TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED  

AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

ABN 26 115 111 763 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF MAGNIS ENERGY TECHNOLOGIES 
LIMITED 

 

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Report on the Financial Report 

Opinion  

We have audited the financial report of Magnis Energy Technologies Limited and Controlled Entities (the Group), 
which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2022, the consolidated statement 
of profit and loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the 
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’ 
declaration. 

In our opinion the accompanying financial report of Magnis Energy Technologies Limited and Controlled Entities is 
in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

(a) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2022 and of its financial 
performance for the year then ended; and 

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

 
Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply 
with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements 
of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards 
Board’s APES 110: Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

We confirm the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, has been given to the directors 

of the company. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 

We draw attention to Note 1 in the financial report, which indicates that the company incurred a net loss 
of $61,697,819 during the year ended 30 June 2022 and net operating cash outflows of $47,106,189, as of that 
date; As stated in Note 1 these conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 1, indicate that a material 
uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt about the company’s ability to continue as a going concern and 
therefore, the company may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course 
of business and at the amounts stated in the financial report. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF MAGNIS ENERGY TECHNOLOGIES 
LIMITED 

 

Key Audit Matters 
 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit 
of the financial report for the year ended 30 June 2022. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters. 

Key Audit Matter How Our Audit Addressed the Key Audit Matter 

Investment in Charge CCV LLC 
Refer to Note 9 ‘Financial Assets at FVOCI 

 
At 30 June 2022, the Consolidated Entity had an 
investment in Charge CCCV LLC “C4V” an 
entity external to the Group and recorded at a 
value of $ 15,096,041. The Group’s accounting 
policy in respect of this investment is outlined in 
Note 9. 

 
This is a key audit matter because of the 
judgements and estimates along with the 
disclosure considerations that are required in 
relation to management’s assessment of the fair 
value to ensure that these are in accordance 
with AASB 13 Fair Value, AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments and AASB 7 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures. 

Our procedures included, amongst others: 

 

 Obtaining and evaluating management’s assessment 
and assumptions made in relation to the investment in 
C4V to ensure the classification of the asset continues to 
be appropriate. 

 
 Evaluating management’s financial model to support 

the fair value of C4V, including the challenging of key 
assumptions as reported in Note 9 as well as checking 
the mathematical accuracy of the model and underlying 
calculations. 

 
 Gaining an understanding of quantum of funds required 

to ensure Nachu and iM3NY progress to development 
and into production to produce the royalty cash flows to 
C4V. 

 
 Evaluating the accuracy and completeness of the 

disclosures in accordance with AASB 9, AASB 13 and 
AASB 7. 

 
 

Key Audit Matter How Our Audit Addressed the Key Audit Matter 

Development Asset 

Refer to Note 11 ‘Development Asset’ 

 

The Group has $6,170,865 recorded as 
development asset as at 30 June 2022. The 
Group’s accounting policy in respect of 
exploration and evaluation assets is outlined in 
Note 11. 

 
This is a key audit matter because the carrying 
value of the assets are material to the financial 
statements and significant judgements are 
applied in determining whether an indicator of 
impairment exists in relation to capitalised 
exploration and expenditure assets in 
accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standard AASB 6 Exploration for and 
Evaluation of Mineral Resources. 

 

        Our procedures included, amongst others: 

 In assessing whether an indicator of impairment exists in 
relation to the Group’s exploration assets in accordance 
with AASB 6 – Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral 
Resources, we: 

 
o examined the minutes of the Group’s board 

meetings and updates from the Group’s exploration 
partners; 

 
o obtained management’s position on the 

assessment of impairment at the end of the year 
and evaluated it for reasonableness; 

 
o reviewed the tenements profile and ensured any that 

have been surrendered were expensed as required; 
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Key Audit Matter How Our Audit Addressed the Key Audit Matter 

Property, Plant and Equipment 

 

Refer to Note 12 ‘Property, 
Plant and Equipment’ 

 

The group has $49,458,872 of property, plant 
and equipment at 30 June 2022. Included in the 
carrying value is equipment held by a 
subsidiary amounting to $49,414,529. We 
focused on this matter as a key audit matter as 
equipment is the most significant asset of the 
group. 
 

 

          Our procedures included amongst others: 

 Assessed the Group’s analysis for indicators of 
impairment, including the views of management’s 
valuation specialists. This included consideration 
of whether any movements in the valuation 
drivers indicated potential impairment by 
comparing them to historical results in addition to 
economic and industry forecasts. 

 
 We assessed the adequacy of group's 

disclosures in relation to the carrying value of 
property, plant & equipment. 

 

 

 

Key Audit Matter      How Our Audit Addressed the Key Audit Matter 

Borrowings 

Refer to Note 14 (c) ‘Non Current - Borrowings’ 

 

The Group has $145,111,133 of current 
borrowings as at 30 June 2022. 

 

Magnis’s subsidiary iM3NY entered into an 
agreement with Atlas Credit Partners through 
AON for a loan facility of USD 100 million (AUD 
145.11 million) which was used to retire the 
USD 48.475 million ( AUD 63.98 million) senior 
debt facility entered into with Riverstone and to 
provide additional cash for the business.  

 

This is considered to be a key area of audit 
focus due to its materiality to the financial report. 

 

Our procedures included, amongst others: 
 

 Gained an understanding the loan as per the loan 
agreement. 

 
 A review of the loan documentation including the 

terms of the secured loans and evaluated the 
accounting treatment adopted by management in 
accounting for the borrowings. 

 
 Recalculated the interest expenses recognised in 

the income statement 
 

 We assessed the adequacy of the Group’s 
disclosures in respect of borrowings. 

 

 

 Traced the share issues to the various ASX 

announcements and ensured that the conversion 

reconciliation was in accordance with the ASX and the 

agreement. 

 
 Recalculated the amount owing at year end under the 

convertible bond agreement based on the share price 

and the number of shares converted on each 

conversion date. 
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Information Other Than The Financial Report And Auditor’s Report Thereon 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in 
the Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2022, but does not include the financial report and our auditor’s 
report thereon. Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of the financial report, our 
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view 
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as 
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view 
and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In preparing the financial report, the directors 
are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend 
to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and 
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

– Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

– Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Group’s internal control. 

– Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the directors. 

 
– Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 

on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 
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– 

 
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation. 

 

– Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion. 

 
 
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the 
audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters 
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication. 
 
Report on the Remuneration Report 

 

We have audited the remuneration report included in pages 13 to 19 of the directors’ report for the year ended 30 
June 2022. 

In our opinion, the remuneration report of Magnis Energy Technologies Limited, for the year ended 30 June 2022, 
complies with 300A of the Corporations Act 2001 
 
 
Responsibilities 

 
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the remuneration report in 
accordance with Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
remuneration report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

 

 

 

 
 

Anh (Steven) Nguyen 

Director 

Date: 30th September 2022 

Hall Chadwick Melbourne Audit 

Level 14 440 Collins Street 

Melbourne VIC 3000 
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